# **Technical Report**

# Best Available Science Research Vancouver Critical Areas Ordinance Update

Submitted to

City of Vancouver Vancouver, Washington

September 23

Submitted by

WSP USA 210 East 13th Street, Suite 300 Vancouver, Washington 89660-3231

31000436.000

### **TECHNICAL REPORT**

### Best Available Science Research Washougal Critical Areas Ordinance Update

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

### SECTION

### PAGE

1.0	INTRODUCTION1			
2.0	VANCOUVER'S CRITICAL AREAS LANDSCAPE 2			
	2.1	Habitats of Local Importance 2		
	2.2	Wetlands2		
	2.3	Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas 2		
	2.4	Geologically Hazardous Areas		
	2.5	Frequently Flooded Areas		
	2.6	Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas		
3.0	WHAT IS BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE?			
4.0	WETL	ANDS		
	4.1	Functions and Values		
		4.1.1 Functions in General		
		4.1.2 Biochemical Functions		
		4.1.3 Hydrologic Functions		
		4.1.4 Habitat Functions 8		
		4.1.5 Impacts		
	4.2	Identification and Classification9		
	4.3	Best Available Science for Wetland Protection10		
	4.4	Science of Impacts and Mitigation12		
	4.5	summary evaluation of existing ordinance and recommendations13		
5.0	CRITI	CAL AQUIFER RECHARGE AREAS14		
	5.1	Functions and Values14		
	5.2	Identification and Classification15		
	5.3	Best Available Science for CARAs15		
		5.3.1 Science of Impacts and Mitigation16		
	5.4	summary evaluation of existing ordinance and recommendations17		
6.0	GEOLOGICALLY HAZARDOUS AREAS17			
	6.1	Functions and Values17		
	6.2	Identification and Classification18		
	6.3	Best Available Science for Landslide Hazards18		
		6.3.1 Science of Impacts and Mitigation19		
	6.4	summary evaluation of existing ordinance and recommendations19		
	6.5	Best Available Science for Erosion Hazards19		

		6.5.1 Science of Impacts and Mitigation	20
	6.6	summary evaluation of existing ordinance and recommendations	21
	6.7	Best Available Science for Seismic Hazards	21
		6.7.1 Science of Impacts and Mitigation	22
	6.8	summary evaluation of existing ordinance and recommendations	22
7.0	FREQ	JENTLY FLOODED AREAS	22
	7.1	Functions and Values	22
	7.2	Identification and Classification	23
	7.3	Best Available Science for Frequently Flooded Areas	
		7.3.1 Science of Impacts and Mitigation	24
	7.4	summary evaluation of existing ordinance and recommendations	27
8.0	FISH A	ND WILDLIFE HABITAT CONSERVATION AREAS	28
	8.1	Identification and Classification	28
	8.2	Best Available Science for Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas	30
		8.2.1 Riparian Areas	
		8.2.2 Priority Habitats and Species	31
	8.3	Science of Impacts and Mitigation	33
		8.3.1 Riparian Ecosystems	33
		8.3.2 Large Wood	
		8.3.3 Stream Temperature	
		8.3.4 Pollutant Removal	34
		8.3.5 Priority Habitat and Species	36
	8.4	Summary Evaluation of existing ordinance and recommendations	37
9.0	REFE	RENCES	39

# LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A. Draft Critical Areas Maps Appendix B. Best Available Science Sources

#### LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

NYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS
American Society of Civil Engineers
Association of State Floodplain Managers, Inc.
best available science
best management practice
critical areas ordinance
critical aquifer recharge area
City of Vancouver
channel migration zone
community rating system
Washington State Department of Natural Resources
Washington State Department of Health
Washington State Department of Ecology
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Endangered Species Act
Federal Emergency Management Agency
flood insurance rate map
Growth Management Act
Interstate 5/Interstate 205
International Codes (2018, 2015, 2012, and 2009)
light detection and ranging
large woody debris
No Adverse Impact
National Earthquake Hazard Reduction Program
National Flood Insurance Program
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
National Research Council
priority habitats and species
permittee-responsible mitigation
Revised Code of Washington
riparian management zone
State Environmental Policy Act
special flood hazard area
Shoreline Management Act
200-year site potential tree height State Route 14/State Route 500
urban growth area
•
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers U.S. Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
U.S. Geological Survey
Vancouver Municipal Code
Washington Administrative Code
Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife
Washington State Department of Transportation

# 1.0 INTRODUCTION

As a fully planning county, Clark County and all municipalities within it, including the City of Vancouver (City), are required to periodically update their critical areas ordinance (CAO) on the schedule set out in the Growth Management Act (GMA) (see Revised Code of Washington [RCW] Sections 36.70A.130 and 36.70A.172). The CAO update needs to comply with the GMA, State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), and must also meet requirements of the Shoreline Management Act (SMA) for regulation of critical areas within shorelines. The Washington Administrative Code (WAC) provides additional requirements for designation of critical areas in WAC 365-190. The deadline for the update of the CAO, other regulations as necessary, and the Comprehensive Plan of the City of Vancouver is June 30, 2025.

Critical areas in Vancouver are currently protected by the City's CAO (Vancouver Municipal Code [VMC] 20.740), first adopted in 2005, as required by RCW 36.70A.172. The protection of these critical areas is important to preserve the ecological functions and values of the City's natural environment and for the protection of public health, safety, and welfare of Vancouver's residents. Critical areas include habitats of local importance, fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas, frequently flooded areas, geologically hazardous areas, wetlands, and critical aquifer recharge areas (CARAs). CARAs are regulated under VMC 14.26, "Water Resources Protection," separately from the City's other critical areas provisions contained in VMC 20.740.

The CAO was most recently updated in 2020, specifically an amendment to Frequently Flooded Areas. Evolving best available science (BAS) for critical areas means the City's CAO may not reflect the latest science or guidance from the State of Washington. BAS is defined in WAC 365-195 (see further discussion below under Section 3.0 of this report). As an example, the City's CAO needs to be updated to meet the most recent riparian management guidance from the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) – *Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 1: Science Synthesis and Management Implications (Quinn et al. 2020) and Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 2: Management Recommendations (Rentz et al. 2020).* City staff have also mentioned that they would prefer that the CARA regulations in VMC 14.26 be integrated with the other critical areas regulations in VMC 20.740.

This report consists of a background of the City's existing critical areas landscape, review of BAS and critical area resource documents, and guidance that provide BAS-based approaches to protecting the functions and values of critical areas. The BAS review includes peer-reviewed literature, gray literature, expert opinion and the anecdotal experience of professionals that is relevant to the City, documents prepared for other jurisdictions, guidance prepared by state and federal agencies, and research from across the country regarding the effectiveness of existing standards and the state of the science. This document presents the findings of the review and Appendix B lists the literature, data, and reports used to review the state of BAS for each regulated critical area.

# 2.0 VANCOUVER'S CRITICAL AREAS LANDSCAPE

The geography of Vancouver's critical areas is discussed in this section. As a supplement to this section, see the critical areas maps contained in Appendix A. Together, the description and maps provide the general distribution of Vancouver's critical areas. Also discussed below are how critical areas are designated areas as per the City's CAO and any differences in designation compared with WAC 365-190.

# 2.1 HABITATS OF LOCAL IMPORTANCE

Habitats of Local Importance (VMC 20.740.100) are critical areas for fish and wildlife habitat that are not designated as priority habitats and species by the State, but are designated as locally significant by the City. These are determined by a need for protection due to existing high diversity of fish or wildlife species, declining populations, habitat scarcity, areas sensitive to disturbance from human activity or development, or other unique local habitat functions. Designated areas also need to be sufficient in size to support the species or habitat functions and this designation will not compromise the ability of the City to achieve Comprehensive Plan goals. A habitat of local importance must also have a proposed management strategy that describes how the functions of the habitat will be protected after designation. Vancouver has not designated any habitats of local importance and they are, therefore, not discussed further in this report.

# 2.2 WETLANDS

Wetlands are areas that support vegetation adapted to life in saturated soil conditions under normal circumstances (VMC 20.740.140). Wetlands must be designated in accordance with the definition in RCW 36.70A.030 and in accordance with the federal wetland delineation manual and regional supplements (WAC 173-22-035). Wetlands include swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar areas, but do not include artificial wetlands intentionally created (e.g., irrigation and drainage ditches, canals, and detention facilities). Counties and cities must adopt a rating system for wetlands. The rating system most frequently used (also used by Vancouver) is the joint rating system developed by the Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology) and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE).

Areas in the City that have prevalent wetland areas are along the banks of the Columbia River, Vancouver Lake, Burnt Bridge Creek, Fisher Creek, and Love Creek; areas between Vancouver Lake and the Columbia River; Curtin Springs Wildlife Habitat; Vancouver Lake Park; Centerpointe Park; areas west of Northeast Padden Parkway and Northeast Andresen Road; areas in the Port of Vancouver; and other mapped areas as shown in Appendix A.

# 2.3 CRITICAL AQUIFER RECHARGE AREAS

CARAs are areas where rainfall and surface water can infiltrate into the subsurface and recharge aquifers used for potable water. CARAs are regulated under VMC 14.26, which was recently updated in City Ordinance M-4372 codified in August 2022. The purpose of this code is to protect the City's water resources by reducing risks of groundwater contamination by establishing development regulations and minimum standards (VMC 14.26). Aquifer areas must be classified according to the vulnerability of an aquifer, which is determined by the combined effect of hydrogeological susceptibility to contamination and the potential contaminant releases that may impact the aquifers (WAC 365-190-100). The entire area within the City's jurisdictional boundaries is designated as CARA under VMC 14.26.115.B. The City further identifies Special Protection Areas within the citywide CARA that are those areas within 1,900 feet of any municipal water supply well.

## 2.4 GEOLOGICALLY HAZARDOUS AREAS

Landslide, seismic, and erosion hazard areas are geologically hazardous areas (VMC 20.740.130). Coal mine and volcanic hazards also qualify as geologically hazardous areas (WAC 365-190-120), but these do not occur in Vancouver.

**Landslides:** Landslide areas are generally characterized by the following identifying potential factors per the City's CAO: slopes greater than 25 percent on a property and adjacent areas within 100 feet and areas of historic or active landslides. WAC 365-190-120 defines landslide areas as areas delineated by the U.S. Department of Agricultural Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA-NRCS) as having significant limitations for building development; coastal areas mapped as Classes u (unstable), uos (unstable old slides), and urs (unstable recent slides) in Ecology's Coast Atlas; or areas designated as quaternary slumps, earthflows, mudflows, lahars, or landslides on maps published by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) or Washington State Department of Natural Resources (DNR). Also, it includes areas with slopes steeper than 15 percent; hillsides intersecting geological contacts with a permeable sediment overlaying an impermeable sediment or bedrock; and springs or groundwater seepage. WAC goes further in defining landslides as areas that have shown movement during the Holocene epoch or which are underlain or covered by mass wastage debris from this epoch; slopes parallel or subparallel to planes of weakness in subsurface materials; slopes having gradients steeper than 80 percent subject to rockfall during seismic shaking; areas potentially unstable as a result of rapid stream incision, erosion, and undercutting by wave action, including stream channel migration zones; areas that show evidence or are at risk from snow avalanches; areas located in a canyon or on an active alluvial fan subject to inundation by catastrophic flooding; and any area with a slope of 40 percent or steeper with a vertical relief of 10 or more feet and not composed of bedrock.

Areas of the City that are identified as areas of potential instability landslide areas by information provided by Clark County Maps Online are slopes south of and above Burnt Bridge Creek in central Vancouver and bordering Burnt Bridge Creek on both sides from Falk Road to NW Fruit Valley Road; slopes above the Columbia River paralleling State Route 14 (SR 14) and Evergreen Boulevard; parallel to Fruit Valley Road; and areas along Southeast Evergreen Highway east of Interstate 205 (I-205) between SR 14 and the Columbia River and west of Southeast 192nd Avenue. The only areas mapped as areas of historic or active landslides are along Burnt Bridge Creek immediately east of Vancouver Lake and along Evergreen Highway east of I-205. Mapped landslide areas of high confidence by the USGS Landslide Inventory are located around Burnt Bridge Creek Park; along the eastern side Northwest Fruit Valley Road and north of West 39th Street; areas north of SR 500 at Arnold Park and

Bosco Farm Neighborhood Park; areas south of SR 500 along Burnt Bridge Creek and Burnt Bridge Creek Park; an area in Dubois Park; and area just west of Dubois Park and between East Mill Plain Boulevard and East Evergreen Boulevard (see Appendix A).

**Seismic Hazard Areas:** The City designates seismic hazard areas as those with low to moderate, moderate, moderate to high, or high liquefaction susceptibility, or Peat Deposits; areas of fill; National Earthquake Hazard Reduction Program (NEHRP) ground shaking amplification soils C to D, D, D to E, and E; and fault rupture hazard areas. WAC 365-190-120 defines seismic hazard areas as those subject to a severe risk of damage as a result of ground shaking induced by an earthquake, slope failure, settlement or subsidence, surface faulting, or tsunamis. It also includes areas with a historical record of earthquake damage.

Areas mapped with liquefaction susceptibility risk are typically found in Vancouver along the Columbia River generally west of Southeast Ellsworth Road; areas between the Columbia River and Vancouver Lake; areas along Burnt Bridge Creek; Spring Branch Creek; and areas north and south of SR -500 and Northeast 95th Street. Areas of the City with NEHRP ground shaking amplifications of C to D or higher are generally located west of I-5 near Vancouver Lake. The area north of SR 500 and between I-5 and I-205 are generally Class D; south of SR 500 and east of I-205 are generally Site Class C; faults associated with the Quaternary Lacamas fault zone are present on the eastern side of Vancouver, that generally trends southeast starting at Northeast 28th Street and Northeast 38th Avenue to the Columbia River and ending east of Government Island. Related faults also traverse the very northeast corner of the city, generally around Northeast Fourth Plain Boulevard and Northeast 162nd Avenue.

**Erosion Hazard Areas:** Erosion hazard areas under Vancouver's CAO are areas identified as having a severe erosion hazard by the 1972 USDA Soil Conservation Service Soil Survey of Clark County Washington. These include erosion hazard areas along banks, streams, and rivers due to flow patterns creating regression or retreat of these banks. Erosion hazard areas are defined by WAC 365-190-120 as areas that are likely to become unstable, such as bluffs, steep slopes, and areas with unconsolidated soils. In the City, erosion hazard areas are found generally along Burnt Bridge Creek adjacent and west of I-5, east of Northwest Fruit Valley Road between West 39th Street and Burnt Bridge Creek, along the Portland Vancouver Junction Rail line between I-5 and Northeast Saint James Road, an area bounded to the west and east by Fort Vancouver Way and Northeast 87th Avenue and to the north and south by East 18th Street and SR 14, and other mapped areas as shown in Appendix A.

### 2.5 FREQUENTLY FLOODED AREAS

Frequently Flooded Areas are areas of special flood hazards (VMC 20.740.120) determined by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and scientific and engineering reports entitled Flood Insurance Study effective September 5, 2012 and any subsequent revisions. Areas designated as frequently flooded areas as defined by WAC 365-190-110 are those that affect human health and safety and to public

facilities and services. Jurisdictions may optionally designate and consider the future flow flood plain; the potential effects of a tsunami; high tides with strong winds; sea level rise and extreme weather events, including those resulting from global climate change; and greater surface runoff caused by increased impervious surfaces.

Frequently flooded areas in the City are found along the Columbia River, Burnt Bridge Creek, and Vancouver Lake and areas between Vancouver Lake and the Columbia River.

### 2.6 FISH AND WILDLIFE HABITAT CONSERVATION AREAS

Areas that are determined as fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas (VMC 20.740.110) are based on site conditions and varying available data. These areas include habitat used for any life stage of an endangered, threatened, or sensitive fish or wildlife species; priority habitats and areas associated with priority species as determined by the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW); rivers, lakes, streams and naturally occurring ponds; locally significant habitat areas or habitats of local importance; and riparian management areas are riparian buffers. WAC 395-190-130 defines fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas as those that are commercial and recreational shellfish areas; kelp and eelgrass beds; herring, smelt, and other forage fish spawning areas; naturally occurring ponds under 20 acres and their submerged aquatic beds; waters of the state; and state natural area preserves, natural resource conservation areas, and state wildlife areas.

Primary fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas in the city, including riparian and non-riparian habitat areas, and species areas that can be found along the Columbia River, Burnt Bridge Creek, Fisher Creek, Love Creek, Vancouver Lake and areas between the lake and the Columbia River, South Vancouver Lake Lowlands, Burnt Bridge Creek Greenway, parks along the banks of the Columbia River, Biddlewood Natural Area, Henry J. Biddle Natural Area, Mimsi Marsh, Ellsworth Springs East, David Douglas Park, Blandford Canyon West, Meadowbrook Marsh, along the Portland Vancouver Junction Rail between I-5 and Northeast Saint James Road, and other areas as mapped in Appendix A.

# 3.0 WHAT IS BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE?

A foundational element of all CAO updates is documenting the BAS that supports the new and/or revised regulations. As regulated by RCW 36.70A.172, BAS must be used in developing policies and development regulations in order to protect functions and values of critical areas. BAS is utilizing the best, most current information available from a valid scientific process or sources that have been adopted by the scientific community. According to WAC 365-195-905, counties and cities may use a list of identified resources from local, state, or federal natural resources that have met the criteria of BAS. The responsibility of including BAS in development and implementation of critical areas policies or regulations rests on each jurisdiction. However, counties and cities should consult with a qualified scientific expert or team to identify scientific information, determine BAS, and assess applicability to critical areas. The scientific expert or experts may use professional judgment regarding

critical areas but shall use criteria set out in WACs 365-195-900 through 365-195-925 and any other technical guidance provided by the department. Characteristics of BAS include:

- WAC 365-195-900 Jurisdictions must identify and include BAS in accordance with WAC for updates and adoption of policies and regulations, including for periodic review and evaluation to determine a jurisdiction is meeting statutory obligations.
- WAC 365-190-905 Assessment criteria are provided for jurisdictions to determine whether information gathered for development of critical areas policies and regulations is adequate for BAS. It also provides guidance on the types of information that can be used, determining qualified professionals, setting responsibilities of jurisdictions, and validating scientific information.
- WAC 365-190-910 Obtaining BAS is regulated by this statute and includes consulting with state and federal natural resource agencies and tribes for efficient development of scientific information and recommendations. Counties or cities may also have their own scientific data that is or can be eligible for BAS.
- WAC 365-190-915 Criteria are listed for using BAS in the development of policies and development regulation and shall protect the functions and values of the critical areas. BAS shall be included in the decision-making process. Jurisdictions shall use BAS with variances and exemptions determinations regarding generally applicable critical areas policies and development regulations. Nonscientific information (legal, social, cultural, economic, and political) used for critical area policies and regulations departing from BAS shall:
  - Identify information on record that supports its decision in departing sciencebased recommendations;
  - Explain rationale for its departure from science-based recommendations; and
  - Identify potential risks to a critical area or areas function and values, and any reducing risks with additional measures.
- WAC 365-190-920 Inadequate scientific information relating to a jurisdiction's critical areas shall utilize a "precautionary or a no risk approach" or use a formal adaptive management program that relies on scientific methods.
- WAC 365-190-925 Jurisdictions must give "special consideration" for necessary conservation or protection measures to preserve or enhance anadromous fisheries. Record evidence shall be provided with protected habitat that includes all life stages of anadromous fish.

Scientific information can be produced only through a valid scientific process as listed above and BAS must be used in developing policies and development regulations in order to protect functions and values of critical areas (RCW 36.70A.172). The BAS research presented below meets State requirements and includes scientific information that is readily available, is of high quality, and/or has been independently peer-reviewed.

# 4.0 WETLANDS

Wetlands are highly productive and valuable ecosystems that provide high-quality habitat to various terrestrial and aquatic flora and fauna, protect water quality by filtering contaminants and promoting infiltration, provide aquifer recharge, and slow the velocity of and retain flood waters protecting downstream communities from the impacts of flooding. Current BAS for wetlands includes guidance for the identification, classification, and categorization of wetlands, information regarding useful and effective protective buffers, and guidance for mitigating impacts to wetlands, including mitigation sequencing and compensatory mitigation, all of these are factors in protecting and maintaining wetland functions and values. This section of the report discusses the functions and values provided by wetlands and information regarding their identification, classification/characterization, and protection and management.

# 4.1 FUNCTIONS AND VALUES

## 4.1.1 Functions in General

Wetland functions are the interactions between the structural components of the wetland, and the physical, chemical, and biological processes within the wetland and surrounding landscape (Sheldon et al. 2005). Because wetlands provide functions at many scales, from the microscopic to watershed level, functions are generally grouped into one of three categories: biochemical, hydrologic, and habitat functions. Not all wetlands provide the same level of functions, and most functions are dependent on a number of factors that include the presence and kind of vegetation, soil type, water regime and residence time of water, and position within the landscape. Additionally, the value of an individual wetland may differ from another because of external factors, such as the presence of nearby contaminant sources (e.g., agricultural practices), runoff from adjacent impervious surfaces, proximity to resident and anadromous fish-bearing streams, precipitation patterns, likelihood of flooding, and/or changes in regional climate conditions. The following sections provide a broad overview of the functions provided by wetlands, and examples of the value of these functions to society. The discussion is not exhaustive but is meant to show representative examples of the findings of existing science regarding the functions provided by wetlands (Sheldon et al. 2005).

# 4.1.2 Biochemical Functions

Biochemical functions include nutrient cycling, removal and retention of metal and toxic organic compounds, and sediment stabilization, among others. Water quality can be impaired by the presence of contaminants, including sediments, phosphorous, metals and organic compounds, and/or pathogens. As discussed in Ecology's *Wetlands in Washington State Volume 1 – A Synthesis of the Science* (Sheldon et al. 2005), wetlands improve water quality by promoting sedimentation, absorbing and precipitating contaminants, biodegrading contaminants by supporting microbes that break them down, removing nitrogen through nitrification and denitrification processes, and helping retain and remove pathogens by detaining water and aiding microorganisms that feed on bacteria. These natural processes provide water quality protection that reduces society's dependency on water quality treatment facilities,

protect local resources such as fish stocks that may be impaired by contaminated water, and help promote the health and safety of communities by limiting the presence of pathogens, metals, and toxic organic compounds in the drinking water that is provided by groundwater and surface water resources (Sheldon et al. 2005).

# 4.1.3 Hydrologic Functions

The hydrologic functions provided by wetlands include flood attenuation, groundwater recharge, decreased downstream erosion, and reduction in peak flows, among others. The hydrologic functions of wetlands are related to their ability to retain more surface water than terrestrial habitats; the many wetlands across a watershed retain and gradually release runoff and surface water that would otherwise flow directly into surface waters (Adamus et al. 1991, *in* Sheldon et al. 2005). While these functions are associated with water storage, an individual wetland's ability to store surface or subsurface water is additionally influenced by a number of factors, including the wetland's location within the landscape, soils and vegetation, and the type or class of the wetland (Sheldon et al. 2005). These functions can contribute to the long-term health, safety and financial benefits to downstream communities; for example, wetlands in floodplains dissipate the erosive forces of flood waters, and can store large volumes of surface water; these functions act to protect downstream communities from flooding events, and channel migration, and minimize damage to structures and other assets such as cropland.

## 4.1.4 Habitat Functions

Wetlands provide habitats for various species, including species that are dependent on wetland habitat for their entire life cycle, species that rely on wetlands for a single life stage, and species that use wetlands on occasion, such as for drinking water, or as a stopover point during migration (Johnson and O'Neil 2001). Wetlands support anadromous and resident fish, reptiles and amphibians, waterfowl and migratory birds, and terrestrial species, as well as a variety of aquatic invertebrates and microorganisms. The use of a wetland by any specific animal or group of animals depends on factors that include hydrologic regime, structure and complexity of vegetation, proximity to other habitat, climate/seasonality, and topography, among others (Adamus et al. 1991, Mitsch and Gosselink 2000). Many of the species that rely on wetlands for all or part of their life cycle have unique societal and cultural values. For example, wetlands provide juvenile rearing habitat for salmon, and they provide habitat for waterfowl that are valued for recreation (e.g., birding and hunting). Wetlands supply habitat for protected species, such as migratory birds, WDFW priority species, and state and federally listed threatened and endangered species.

# 4.1.5 Carbon Sequestration Functions

According to RCW 70A.45.010, carbon sequestration is defined as the process of capturing and storing atmospheric carbon dioxide through biologic, chemical, geologic, or physical processes. Wetlands are known to be some of the largest stores of carbon on the planet (USGCRP 2018). Wetland soils are anoxic (oxygen-poor), and therefore slow decomposition and lead to the accumulation of organic matter (Nahlik and Fennessy 2016). The amount of carbon storage depends upon wetland

type and size, vegetation, the depth of wetland soils, groundwater and nutrient levels, pH, and other factors. Wetland soils also store carbon that flows in from upland areas, through soil erosion or movement of vegetative debris (Kusler and Christie 2011). Climate modeling has shown a potential favorable ratio of greenhouse gas production to sequestration in future climate change scenarios, meaning wetlands could become an even greater carbon sink than during current conditions. Global warming may affect the period of time it takes a wetland to become a net sink, but may also increases the amount of sequestered carbon significantly depending on local climate conditions (Mitsch et al. 2013). However, disturbed or warmed wetlands typically release greenhouse gases that contribute the most to global warming (i.e., carbon dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide) (Mitsch et al. 2013).

### 4.1.6 Impacts

Disturbances to wetlands and the functions they provide can occur at several geographic scales, and can be created by and depend on a variety of land uses, the land use intensity/severity, and the scale at which the disturbance occurs (Sheldon et al. 2005). Disturbances include vegetation removal and increased impervious surfaces, agricultural practices, logging and development, and other activities that alter natural drainage patterns, fill wetlands, and increase inputs of pollutants. Each of these disturbances may affect the functions and values of wetlands by increasing water volume and flow rates after storm events; increasing sediment and other pollutants in runoff; contributing to habitat fragmentation; increasing erosion, and/or reducing biodiversity (Sheldon et al. 2005).

Protecting wetland resources entails the regulation of direct and indirect impacts to wetlands and should be guided by BAS. Direct wetland impacts are activities that include filling, draining, or adversely impacting the vegetation within a wetland. Indirect impacts result from changes to the surrounding landscape that negatively influence the physical, chemical, or biological characteristics of a wetland, such as its hydroperiod, microclimate or habitat connectivity, for example (McMillan 2000).

### 4.2 IDENTIFICATION AND CLASSIFICATION

Section 365-190-090 of the WAC and RCW 36.70A.030 define wetlands as,

... areas that are inundated or saturated by surface water or groundwater at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. Wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar areas. Wetlands do not include those artificial wetlands intentionally created from non-wetland sites, including, but not limited to, irrigation and drainage ditches, grass-lined swales, canals, detention facilities, wastewater treatment facilities, farm ponds, and landscape amenities, or those wetlands created after 1 July 1990, that were unintentionally created as a result of the construction of a road, street, or highway. Wetlands may include those artificial wetlands intentionally created from non-wetland areas to mitigate the conversion of wetlands. To address regional wetland characteristics and improve the accuracy of wetland delineations, the USACE issued regional supplements to its wetland delineation manual (1987) on which the state manual is based. Therefore, current wetland methodology is based on the USACE manual and the *Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast* Region (Version 2.0) (regional supplement) (USACE 2010). The USACE manual provides the methodology for identifying jurisdictional wetlands based on an examination of vegetation, soils, and hydrology. Vancouver's CAO references the "approved federal wetland delineation manual and applicable regional supplements but does not specifically reference the manual and supplement by name (see VMC 20.740.120).

WAC 365-190-090 also indicates that when designating wetlands, counties and cities should use a rating system that evaluates the existing wetland functions and values to determine what functions must be protected, and, when developing wetland rating systems, jurisdictions should consider using the wetland rating system developed jointly by Ecology and the USACE. Ecology's Wetland Rating System for Western Washington (Hruby 2014) is the most commonly used and regionally accepted wetland classification system, and categorizes wetlands based on their specific attributes, including rarity, sensitivity, and the functions they provide. To identify and classify wetlands, the system incorporates other classification systems, including the hydrogeomorphic classification and classification of plant communities (Cowardin et al. 1979), as well as classification based on special characteristics. As described in the Ecology guidance, the rating system was designed to "differentiate between wetlands based on their sensitivity to disturbance, their significance, their rarity, our ability to replace them, and the functions they provide" (Hruby 2014). The intent of the system is to provide a basis for developing standards to protect and manage wetlands. Vancouver's CAO uses the Wetland Rating System for Western Washington (Hruby 2014) in compliance with WAC 365-190-090.

# 4.3 BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE FOR WETLAND PROTECTION

The protection of the functions and values provided by wetlands is generally recognized as achievable (in part) by using protective wetland buffers. Buffers are vegetated areas adjacent to an aquatic resource (a wetland for purposes of this discussion) that can, through various processes, reduce the impacts of adjacent land uses (Sheldon et al. 2005). Functions provided by buffers include removing sediments, excess nutrients, and toxics; influencing the microclimate; maintaining habitat connectivity; and minimizing adjacent disturbances. The effectiveness of buffers to protect wetland functions and values is generally related to the type of wetland function to be protected, the activities that are being buffered, and the characteristics of both the wetland and its associated buffer. For example, differing widths for effective buffers for water quality protection, and habitat for a specific species have been documented. Additionally, different buffer widths to protect a similar function may be necessary depending on the stressors associated with the different wetlands that provide the function. Generally, the characteristics that most influence buffer functions include vegetation, slope of the buffer, the soils, and the

width of the buffer; of these, just vegetation and buffer width can be manipulated or controlled easily (Sheldon et al. 2005).

It is generally accepted that the width of a buffer should be related to the wetland functions that need protecting, the intensity of the adjacent land use, and the condition of the adjacent buffer. While the BAS states unanimously that buffers are effective in protecting wetlands functions and values, there is significant debate about how much buffer is necessary to protect particular functions. In order to protect the ecological functions and values of wetlands, it is necessary for regulators to consider a number of ecological principles, and their implications for development and the use of natural resources. These principals include factors such as temporal and spatial functions of ecological processes and implications of development, direct and cumulative impacts, and the type, intensity, and duration of impacts to natural resources.

As stated in Ecology's *Wetlands in Washington State Volume 2 – Protecting and Managing Wetlands* (Granger et al. 2005),

[a]uthors who synthesized the literature on the effectiveness of buffer widths suggest buffers between 25 and 75 feet for wetlands with minimal wildlife habitat functions and adjacent low-intensity land uses; 50 to 150 feet for wetlands with moderate habitat functions or adjacent highintensity land uses; and 150 to 300 feet for wetlands with high habitat functions. Effective buffer widths for protecting water quality ranged from 25 to 50 feet for 60 percent removal of pollutants, to 150 to 200 feet for 80 percent removal of pollutants.

Ecology suggests assessing the potential risk to wetlands as a result of development and the amount of risk that is acceptable; this risk assessment can offer a local jurisdiction insight on appropriate protective measures for implementation (Granger et al. 2005). This means that regulations implementing larger, rather than smaller, buffers around all wetlands would be characterized as lower risk for preserving functions and values, whereas a jurisdiction that implements narrower buffers would have a higher risk of impacting functions and values, and the narrower buffers would be unlikely to provide all of the functions necessary to protect wetlands.

In October 2022, Ecology released new guidance offering three different approaches to establishing protective buffers. Buffer Option 1 offers the most flexibility in buffer widths based on the wetland category, level of impacts from adjacent land uses, and the functions of the wetland (i.e., habitat, special characteristics, etc.), and offers opportunities for buffer reductions (Ecology 2022b). Buffer Option 2 established buffer widths based on wetland category and the existing or proposed adjacent land use, with no options for buffer averaging or reductions. Buffer Option 3 includes fixed buffer widths based solely on the wetland category with no opportunity for buffer reductions or averaging. These three options offer local jurisdictions different approaches with different risk tolerances to choose from when developing or updating their critical areas ordinances.

## 4.4 SCIENCE OF IMPACTS AND MITIGATION

When a change in land use has the potential to adversely affect a wetland, regulatory agencies require the applicant to conduct wetland mitigation, as part of a national "no net loss" policy toward protecting wetlands. "No net loss of wetland functions and values" is a federal and state policy goal that emerged in 1989 and has been a mainstay of land use regulations since then (National Research Council [NRC] 2001). To date, the no net loss policy has been interpreted to mean that wetlands should be conserved wherever possible, and that wetlands converted to other uses must be offset through compensatory mitigation to provide the same functions and values that have been lost (NRC 2001). As described in the 1990 Memorandum of Agreement between the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the USACE (EPA and USACE 1990), the mitigation sequence is a three-step sequence that helps guide decisions and to determine the type and level of mitigation required under Clean Water Act Section 404/401 Regulations. The Washington SEPA (Chapter 43-21C RCW), administered by Ecology, also requires that a sequence of actions be taken for proposals that will impact wetlands (mitigation sequence). The following are the steps in the mitigation sequence according to the implementing rules of SEPA (Chapter 197-11-768 WAC):

- Avoiding the impact altogether by not taking a certain action or parts of an action;
- Minimizing impacts by limiting the degree or magnitude of the impacts;
- Rectifying the impact by repairing, rehabilitating, or restoring the affected environment;
- Reducing or eliminating the impact over time by preservation and maintenance operations during the life of the action;
- Compensating for the impact by replacing, enhancing, or providing substitute resources or environments; and/or
- Monitoring the impact and taking appropriate corrective measures.

If, through mitigation sequencing, it is determined that compensatory mitigation is necessary, an applicant has several alternatives for how to approach compensation. The alternatives, reviewed and described by Ecology et al. (2021), are prioritized as follows:

- Mitigation bank credits: Allows applicants to compensate for wetland loss by purchasing credits from a bank that is commissioned to restore, create, enhance, or preserve wetland areas in providing compensatory mitigation for authorized impacts to wetlands.
- In-lieu fee program credits: Allows applicants to compensate for wetland losses by paying a fee to a third party, such as a government agency or conservation organization, where the fee is used to ensure wetland protection, creation, and enhancement of wetlands.
- Permittee-responsible mitigation (PRM) under a watershed approach.

- PRM that is on site and in-kind.
- PRM that is off site and/or out-of-kind.

PRM includes the following approaches:

- Restoration: Re-establishment of wetland conditions where they formerly, but no longer, exist.
- Creation: Establishment of wetland conditions in a location where wetland conditions previously did not exist or that has not been a wetland within the last 100 to 200 years.
- Enhancement/Exchange: Modifying a specific structural feature of an existing degraded wetland to improve one or more functions based on management objectives.
- Preservation: Protection of an existing and well-functioning wetland from perspective future development threats.
- Mixed Compensatory Mitigation: Involves more than one of the listed types of compensatory mitigation.

Additionally, Ecology adopted an approach for estimating the functions lost when a wetland is altered, and to estimate the gain in functions that may result from restoration, creation, enhancement, and/or preservation (Hruby 2011). This methodology estimates the type and area of compensation to be provided based on functions of the wetland being altered (i.e., debits) and the amount the proposed compensatory mitigation will create (i.e., credits). The guidance establishes that the proposed compensatory mitigation is acceptable when the "credit" score for the mitigation project is higher than the "debit" score for the impacted wetland (Hruby 2011)

As a result of failure of many previous mitigation projects, USACE, Ecology, and some Washington jurisdictions are encouraging the use of mitigation banks and inlieu fee programs because these can offer greater assurance for mitigation success to both the applicant and the jurisdiction (USACE and EPA 2008; Ecology 2009).

# 4.5 SUMMARY EVALUATION OF EXISTING ORDINANCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS

To maintain consistency with state and federal wetland delineation methods, the City should adopt the latest federal wetland delineation manual and its supplements for use in delineating wetlands. This is not expected to change the outcome of wetland delineation efforts within the City, as state and federal regulators already require this methodology to determine wetland boundaries.

Additionally, to be consistent with state and federal guidance on the use of mitigation banks and in-lieu fee programs for compensatory mitigation, the City should update the mitigation code section (VMC 20.740.140[C][2]) to reflect this preference. This is

not expected to change the options available to applicants but to clarify the preference for banks and in-lieu fee programs over permittee-responsible options that have not shown a high likelihood of success.

Finally, to be consistent with state wetland protection guidance, the City should update the code to reflect recent guidance published by Ecology in October 2022. . The recent guidance includes the following additional recommendations that should be included in the updated code:

- Reformatted buffer tables, including the incorporation of previous adjustments to the range of habitat scores based on review of the referenced wetland data used to calibrate the Washington wetland rating system
- Updated and expanded minimization measures table for use with the buffer tables
- Functionally disconnected buffers
- Clarified corridor requirements and expanded applicability
- Clarified geographic scope of exemption guidance for small wetlands
- Recommendations from the 2021 interagency wetland mitigation guidance document
- Updated definitions
- New language addressing the role of wetland functions in mitigating climate change (e.g., carbon sequestration)

These updates may have some changes on how wetlands are protected with buffers and the ability to reduce buffers based on the new guidance.

# 5.0 CRITICAL AQUIFER RECHARGE AREAS

The GMA requires the protection of public groundwater drinking supplies. The supply of public drinking water depends on the availability of groundwater, and without replenishment, the amount of water in aquifers can be diminished or even depleted (Ecology 2021a). CARAs are "areas with a critical recharging effect on aquifers used for potable water where an aquifer that is a source of drinking water is vulnerable to contamination that would affect the potability of the water" (WAC Chapter 365-190). By protecting CARAs, a community can focus its efforts and resources on protecting the most critical groundwater drinking supplies.

CARAs are regulated by Section 14.26 of the VMC.

### 5.1 FUNCTIONS AND VALUES

Regulating CARAs protects public drinking water from contamination by hazardous materials and waterborne pathogens, helps ensure the future availability of groundwater, and is less expensive than post-contamination cleanup or treatment of groundwater. Studies have shown that funding initiatives to protect groundwater is more cost-effective than cleaning up groundwater after contamination occurs (Ecology 2021a). Contaminated public drinking water can cause illness, bring about the ingestion of chemicals or other harmful substances, and incur costs as new wells must be developed or contaminated soils and/or groundwater must be remediated (Ecology 2021a).

## 5.2 IDENTIFICATION AND CLASSIFICATION

The Washington State Department of Health (DOH) regulates and maps drinking water wells. CARAs recommended for protection by WAC 365-190-100 include:

- Wellhead Protection Areas: These areas are defined as "the boundaries of the 10year time of groundwater travel". Clark County Maps Online maps wellhead locations based on information from DOH and the 1-, 5-, and 10-year time of travel zones around these wellheads. Time-of-travel zone information comes from DOH's Source Water Assessment Program mapping tool.
- Sole Source Aquifers: These areas are designated by the EPA pursuant to the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act. Nearly all of Clark County and the city of Vancouver are located within the Troutdale Sole Source Aquifer (EPA 2006).
- Susceptible Groundwater Management Areas: These areas are designated as moderately or highly vulnerable or susceptible in an adopted groundwater management program developed pursuant to WAC Chapter 173-100. There is no adopted groundwater management program for Vancouver or mapped groundwater management areas in the city.
- Special Protection Areas: These areas are defined by WAC 173-200-090 and designated by Ecology. There are special protection areas currently mapped for Vancouver.
- Moderately or Highly Vulnerable Recharge Areas: These areas are moderately or highly vulnerable to degradation or depletion because of hydrogeologic characteristics as delineated in a hydrogeologic study. These areas are not mapped.

CARAs are identified by their vulnerability. Vulnerability is the combination of hydrogeological susceptibility (the high potential for surface recharge and infiltration in CARAs due to the permeability of the soil around them) and the potential of contamination sources based on an analysis of existing land uses. Clark County designates Municipal Wellhead Protection Areas shown on Clark County MapsOnline that indicate different zones that estimate the time it would take for a pollutant release to reach the wellhead area. Vancouver's CAO designates Special Protection Areas within CARAs as those within 1,900 feet of any municipal wellheads These areas are mapped by Clark County MapsOnline.

# 5.3 BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE FOR CARAS

BAS for protecting CARAs recommends addressing both recharge and discharge areas. Aquifer recharge occurs where stormwater, irrigation water, and other water infiltrates into the ground. Using resources and land in various ways can impact aquifer recharge areas; some examples of risks include the contamination of CARAs by hazardous materials or reducing recharging effects by increasing impervious surfaces. Discharge areas are locations where groundwater flows from the surface such as a spring, wetland, or well. Discharge areas are typically protected by other critical areas regulations such as wetland and riparian area requirements.

BAS recommends protecting public groundwater by limiting potential contamination risks within CARAs and promoting land use and development standards that maintain groundwater quality, withdrawals and recharge. In order to support the adequate recharge of its aquifers, a municipality can limit impervious surfaces, encourage low impact development, and use other stormwater best management practices (BMPs) such as raingardens. A commonly used resource for identifying BMPs that will protect groundwater recharge and water quality is the *Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington* (Ecology 2019).

Some land use activities have been identified as high risk for groundwater contamination, and jurisdictions should consider prohibiting these uses within priority CARAs or requiring strict pollution prevention requirements to further mitigate potential risks. BAS also recommends the identification and monitoring of existing high-risk uses within CARAs. Examples of high-risk uses in CARAs include landfills, wood treatment facilities, chrome platers, tank farms, and facilities that treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste (Ecology 2021a).

Other uses may present a moderate or low risk of contamination within a CARA, and can be permitted as conditional uses, provided that they meet BMPs and other requirements to ensure protection of the CARA.

Groundwater wells and construction of groundwater wells are potential conduits that could connect the aquifer with potential overlying contaminants. Well construction standards in WAC 246-290 and 246-291 are intended to help reduce the risk of contamination. However, many wells were installed prior to adoption of well construction standards. Jurisdictions often distinguish between Group A and Group B wells as defined by the Washington Department of Health. Group A wells are "water systems providing service to 15 or more service connections used by year-round residents for 180 or more days within a calendar year regardless of the number of people, or regularly serving at least 25 year-round residents for more than 180 days per year." Group B water systems serve less than 15 service connections and less than 25 people per day or 25 or more people per day during fewer than 180 days per calendar year. (WAC 246-290-020). Both types of wells have the potential to act as conduits and, therefore, the City of Vancouver should consider regulating, not only Group A wells, but also Group B wells.

### 5.3.1 Science of Impacts and Mitigation

Protection of water supply well heads in a sole-source aquifer is of primary importance to the City of Vancouver. Designation of CARAs is intended to protect the water supply by adopting and enforcing regulations that are supported by sciencebased mitigation measures. Potential releases of pollutants can infiltrate into the ground and ultimately to groundwater where they can then travel with the groundwater. Where contaminated groundwater is withdrawn from supply wells, these wells may require treatment to remove pollutants or reduce them to nonhazardous levels. The science behind wellhead protection areas considers the path from surface release to wellhead and aims to identify specific sensitive areas that can be protected with appropriate land-use controls to minimize potential future contamination and costs related to treatment.

The groundwater management areas and program requirements cited in WAC 173-100 should be considered in Vancouver's municipal code revisions. The WAC includes additional detailed elements that provide a more comprehensive technical characterization of groundwater resources and how they are managed. As an example, elements pertaining to groundwater quality, wellhead protection areas, and groundwater quantity evaluations within a coordinated program would likely add value to the City's water resources protection and management.

# 5.4 SUMMARY EVALUATION OF EXISTING ORDINANCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The current Special Wellhead Protection Areas designated by the City (VMC 14.26.115[B][2]). are solely based on the 1,900-foot radius around a production well. While groundwater flow in the immediate vicinity of the well may be primarily circular, and thus support a radius-based zone, the science suggests that larger areas upgradient of a wellhead will be more capable of bringing contaminated groundwater to a well than an equal distance downgradient of the wellhead. This is shown by the Clark County maps that represent different "residence" time zones for groundwater travel to a wellhead. These expanded wellhead protection zones should be based on state of the practice groundwater flow modelling to establish the radius of wellhead "capture zones" that should provide better, more science-based protection zones than a standard 1,900-foot radius. It is recommended that Special Protection area boundaries be modified to reflect physical processes that are involved with groundwater infiltration and potential contamination, similar to what has been done for Clark County.

Designations of CARAs should be reconciled with those listed in WAC 365-190-100.

The City should consider regulating Group B wells in addition to Group A wells. Once draft regulations are developed, the City should look use test case reviews to determine that regulations are effective and tailored to meet the City's objectives and BAS standards.

# 6.0 GEOLOGICALLY HAZARDOUS AREAS

# 6.1 FUNCTIONS AND VALUES

The GMA recognizes four main types of geologic hazards: landslide hazard areas, erosion hazard areas, seismic hazard areas, and areas subject to other geologic events such as coal mine hazards and volcanic hazards. All of these geologic events are risks to human health and safety and can damage property. Managing geologically hazardous areas is necessary to ensure the safety and wellbeing of city residents, and to prevent avoidable damage and/or loss of public and private property. In addition, according to the Washington Department of Commerce, "geologically hazardous areas also have an important function in maintaining habitat integrity." Geologic processes, including mass wasting events, such as landslides and debris flows,

contribute needed sediment and wood for building complex instream habitats, estuarine marshes, and beaches important for fisheries, wildlife, and recreation." (Commerce 2021) The section below addresses the BAS for designating and mapping geologically hazardous critical areas in the interests of human health, structural safety, and the contributions of these areas to the natural environment.

### 6.2 IDENTIFICATION AND CLASSIFICATION

The DNR website "Geologic Hazards and the Environment" provides information and maps of seismic hazards, landslides, and erosion hazards and is an important BAS mapping source. DNR's Geologic Information Portal is a BAS information source for mapping landslide, seismic, and erosion hazards. Erosion hazards are also mapped by corresponding soil type through the USDA-NRCS online web soil survey of Clark County. Geologic hazards are also commonly identified through site-specific geologic or geotechnical engineering studies where agency-produced hazard mapping is insufficient.

The city landscape has various environments susceptible to geologic hazards as noted in Section 2.0 of this report; many of these areas are also subject to erosion hazards (see the Geologically Hazardous critical areas map in Appendix A). Seismic hazard areas are also discussed below, and coal mine and volcanic hazards do not exist within Vancouver.

# 6.3 BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE FOR LANDSLIDE HAZARDS

According to DNR, "Washington is one of the most landslide-prone states in the country, with hundreds to thousands of events each year" (DNR 2021a). Landslides are mass wasting events with soil and rock moving downslope and are more frequent after precipitation events when ground becomes saturated and soil loses its strength. Gravity, water, and friction all play a role in landslides. There are many different types of landslides, but slides generally fall into two categorizes: shallow and deep-seated (DNR 2021a). Literature tends to focus on how to categorize and map these hazards. DNR's Division of Geology and Earth Resources recently completed landslide hazard mapping in the Columbia River Gorge and this data is available on DNR's Geologic Information Portal website and is considered BAS for designation of landslides in the city in the absence of site-specific studies. These mapped features are located east of Vancouver.

Site-specific geotechnical studies with a delineation of landslide hazards and recommended mitigation measures for building in and/or near these areas are considered BAS based on the criteria in WAC 365-195-905. The literature contains mitigation measures and best practices for site development near landslide hazards. According to the USGS, "the simplest means of dealing with landslide hazards is to avoid construction on steep slopes and existing landslides; however, this is not always practical" (Highland and Brobrowsky 2008). The USGS recommends other mitigation, including slope stabilization, by channeling drainage away from the landslide, draining groundwater away from the landslide, minimizing surface irrigation, using retaining walls, retaining/planting vegetation, and seeking professional advice (Highland and Brobrowsky 2008). Burns and Mickelson (2012)

recommends a buffer from the top of shallow landslide-prone slopes equal to twice the vertical height of the slope for high or moderate susceptibility landslide areas or an average of 30 feet.

#### 6.3.1 Science of Impacts and Mitigation

Slope instability is attributable to natural and man-made causes. While large geologically controlled landslides are found further up the Columbia River valley, these types of large landslides are not typically found within the Vancouver city limits. They types of landslides that may occur in the city are smaller slope failures associated with over-steepened slopes along rivers, streams or bluff edges. While these areas of instability may not be extensive, local mitigation activities can be implemented to minimize the potential damages associated with them, similar to erosion hazards.

# 6.4 SUMMARY EVALUATION OF EXISTING ORDINANCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The City should update the landslide hazard areas section of their development code based on the current WAC definitions. VMC 20.740.130(A)(1) currently lists indicators for potential landslide hazard areas in the City and are not entirely inclusive or current with the State-defined indicators. This section of the VMC should be revised to directly define and reference the definition of landslide hazard areas pursuant WAC 365-190-120(6).

Potentially unstable slopes will typically coincide with areas of soil erosion hazards within the city of Vancouver. Grading, construction, or slope erosion mitigation activities in these areas should include consultation of a licensed engineering geologist to help ensure that the potential for instability has been appropriately evaluated and mitigation measures appropriately designed and established. The City should consider including BMPs in its code for landslide hazard areas. If applicants implement these BMPs, then they could avoid filing a critical areas report.

# 6.5 BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE FOR EROSION HAZARDS

Erosion is "the wearing away of the land surface by water, wind, ice, or other geologic agents and by such processes as gravitational creep" (Washington State Department of Transportation [WSDOT] 2021). The 1972 USDA-NRCS soil survey of Clark County classifies the erosion potential of soil types as slight, moderate, severe, and very severe. According to "Understanding Soil Risks and Hazards, Using Soil to Survey to Identify Areas with Risks and Hazards to Human Life and Property,"

...construction activities can have serious detrimental effects on the soil on construction sites. Topsoil removal, grading, and filling drastically reduce soil quality on these sites, resulting in long-term adverse impacts on plant growth and runoff. Removal of topsoil inhibits biological activity and reduces the supply of organic matter and plant nutrients ... Erosion from construction sites has offsite environmental and economic impacts. (USDA-NRCS 2004). Further, the VMC Chapter 14.24 meets BAS regarding avoidance and mitigation of erosion activities. The 1972 soil survey is considered BAS for erosion hazards generally in the city and the county. The geography of erosion hazard areas in Vancouver is noted in Section 2.0 of this report. Soils rated by USDA-NRCS as "severe" or "very severe" are those with an erodibility index of 0.75 or greater and, in most jurisdictions across the state, are classified as regulated critical areas. In addition to the 1972 soil survey, Clark County MapsOnline also includes a Severe Erosion Hazards Area map that should also be considered BAS. BMPs for development or alteration in erosion hazard areas tend to focus not on prohibiting development, but on requiring erosion controls during construction, eliminating clearing activities during the wet season, and directing the drainage around these areas so as not to exacerbate pre-existing erosion potential. Ecology's *Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington* (Ecology 2019) is considered a BAS document for erosion control methods. In "Understanding Soil Risks and Hazards," which is considered to be BAS, USDA-NRCS recommends the following erosion control techniques during construction:

- Divide the project into smaller phases, clearing smaller areas of vegetation.
- Schedule excavation during low-rainfall periods when possible.
- Fit development to the terrain.
- Excavate immediately before construction instead of exposing the soil for months or years.
- Cover disturbed soils with vegetation or mulch as soon as possible and thus reduce hazard of erosion.
- Divert water from disturbed areas.
- Control concentrated flow and runoff, thus reducing the volume and velocity of water from work sites and preventing the formation of rills and gullies.
- Minimize the length and gradient of slopes (e.g., use bench terraces).
- Prevent the movement of sediment to off-site areas.
- Inspect and maintain all structural control measures.
- Install windbreaks to control wind erosion.
- Avoid soil compaction by restricting the use of trucks and heavy equipment to limited areas.
- Break up or till compacted soils prior to vegetating or placing sod.
- Avoid dumping excess concrete or washing trucks on site.
- Revegetate exposed surfaces to provide immediate permanent or intermittent cover.

### 6.5.1 Science of Impacts and Mitigation

Erosion hazard impacts include unstable slopes that may threaten structures, as well as potentially excessive sediment contributions to surface waters of the City.

Mitigation of these impacts can be addressed with BMPs outlined above, as well as preventing activities that over-steepen slopes that can contribute to slope instability and threaten infrastructure installations.

# 6.6 SUMMARY EVALUATION OF EXISTING ORDINANCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS

For construction or development work that is performed in erosion hazard areas, it is recommended that erosion mitigation work to be performed by a certified erosion and sediment control lead in accordance with Ecology requirements.

Additional structure for the regulations could be added to link to WAC 220-660-120 and 220-660-130 to expand BAS for erosion protection.

The City should consider including BMPs in its code for erosion hazard areas. If applicants implement these BMPs, then they could avoid filing a critical areas report.

## 6.7 BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE FOR SEISMIC HAZARDS

Earthquakes can be incredibly expensive and destructive natural hazard events that can level buildings and damage public infrastructure. According to DNR, "Washington has the second highest risk of large and damaging earthquakes in the nation as a result of its geologic setting" (DNR 2021b). WAC 365-190-120 defines seismic hazards as geologically hazardous areas and requires that jurisdictions adopt CAOs regulating development in them. This same WAC section defines seismic hazard areas as "areas subject to a severe risk of damage as a result of earthquake induced ground shaking, slope failure, settlement or subsidence, soil liquefaction, surface faulting or tsunamis."

According to USGS, "ground shaking or ground motion is the movement of the earth's surface due to earthquakes and is produced by seismic waves that are generated by sudden slip on a fault and travel through the earth and along its surface" (USGS 2021). Ground shaking is the most frequently observed effect of an earthquake. The degree of ground shaking will depend on the geologic conditions and soil types for a given area. The NEHRP has delineated "site classes" to characterize the degree of shaking and or amplification that can occur in response to an earthquake. Clark County MapsOnline includes a map of NEHRP site class for Vancouver that should be considered BAS for seismic design to mitigate earthquake effects. Generally the City is dominated by Site Classes C and D, with areas around drainages and Vancouver Lake including areas with more sever site classes of D and E.

The USGS defines liquefaction as "the phenomenon that occurs when loose, saturated sediments at or near the ground surface lose their strength in response to strong ground shaking from an earthquake" (USGS 2021). Clark County MapsOnline includes a map of Liquefaction Susceptibility that should be considered BAS for Vancouver. Throughout most of Vancouver, the liquefaction susceptibility is low to very low; however, a susceptibility of moderate to high has been mapped around the Vancouver Lake area, as well as low lying areas adjacent to the Columbia River.

Further some areas with higher groundwater levels associated with surface streams also indicate a liquefaction susceptibility of low to moderate.

DNR's Washington Geologic Survey and its Geologic Information Portal have online map information for active faults, seismic scenarios, and liquefaction susceptibility that is considered to be BAS for seismic hazards. Clark County MapsOnline shows faults running southeast to northwest on the east side of the city that appear to be associated with the Lacamas Fault zone aligned slightly further east through Lacamas Lake. The design level earthquake in the city is a Cascadia Subduction Zone earthquake, which would have strong shaking intensity.

The following documents represent BAS for earthquake design:

- NEHRP Recommended Seismic Provisions for New Buildings and Other Structures (FEMA 2020)
- Minimum Design Loads for Buildings and Other Structures, American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) 7 (2016 ASCE-7 Standard) (ASCE 2016)
- 2018 International Building Code (International Code Council 2018)

### 6.7.1 Science of Impacts and Mitigation

Mitigation of ground shaking due to seismic events requires recognition of the appropriate site class for a given site, as well as appropriate construction standards and seismic design considerations. Use of appropriate construction methods that consider the earthquake hazards and site response will minimize potential impacts from earthquake events.

# 6.8 SUMMARY EVALUATION OF EXISTING ORDINANCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Soft-story structures that possess little structural shear resistance on lower levels of a building are specifically recognized as susceptible to severe damage from a seismic event. Many municipalities have implemented soft-story seismic retrofit ordinances to address these risks and help mitigate earthquake-related structural damage.

Seismic shaking hazards (VMC 20.740.130[A][2][b]) for the city should be amended to add Site Class E as areas around Vancouver Lake are appropriately categorized and thus should also be amended for liquefaction areas of moderate to high and above (VMC 20.740.130[A][2][a][1]).

# 7.0 FREQUENTLY FLOODED AREAS

# 7.1 FUNCTIONS AND VALUES

Good management of frequently flooded areas can protect downstream areas and reduce the risk of flooding to public safety and property. In addition, floodplains also provide valuable instream and off-channel habitat to a variety of species and are important for water quality protection. Floodplains enhance biological productivity and help maintain biodiversity and the ecological value of ecosystems (FEMA 2007).

### 7.2 IDENTIFICATION AND CLASSIFICATION

Frequently flooded areas are defined as areas that will be inundated by a flood event having a 1 percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year. The 1 percent annual chance flood is also referred to as the base flood or 100-year flood. In Washington, jurisdictions are required to regulate the 100-year floodplain as a critical area, at a minimum, but may also optionally regulate other areas, including channel migration zones, areas inundated by the flood of record, areas subject to groundwater flooding, or streams where the path of flood waters can be unpredictable (Ecology 2021b).

As part of its continuing effort to improve floodplain management practices, FEMA encourages communities to steer development away from the floodplains documented in flood insurance rate map (FIRM) panels. FIRM panels are official maps of communities in which FEMA has delineated special flood hazard areas (SFHAs) and the risk premium zones applicable to the community. As the impacts of climate change become more prevalent, floods are expected to become more frequent. Revised FIRMs and the Flood Insurance Study for Clark County became effective September 5, 2012 and revised maps for properties along the Washougal River, Little Washougal River, and behind the Port of Camas-Washougal's levee on the Columbia River became effective January 19, 2018 (Clark County Public Works 2021). Flood hazard areas within Vancouver include those referenced in Section 2.0 of this report.

# 7.3 BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE FOR FREQUENTLY FLOODED AREAS

Development within floodplains has always been popular because humans want to live near water and use it for recreation and commercial and industrial purposes. However, development within a floodplain results in a problematic cycle, as development alters the natural flow and drainage patterns of the floodplain, and the development is in turn damaged by flooding in the altered floodplain (FEMA 2007).

Developing or updating frequently flooded areas ordinances can be an opportunity to promote flood safety and protect ecological habitat through locally appropriate standards (Ecology et al. 2021). The fundamental floodplain management program that most ordinances are built on is FEMA's National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP). FEMA manages NFIP in order to provide disaster assistance for properties subject to flood damage. The minimum requirements of the NFIP protect the health, safety, and welfare of the community by protecting buildings from the 100-year flood, which FEMA refers to as SFHAs.

FEMA encourages communities to use the FEMA elevation certificate as an official record showing that new buildings and substantial improvements in all identified SFHAs have been properly elevated. This elevation information is also needed to show compliance with the floodplain management ordinance and can be used by the property owner to obtain flood insurance.

Limiting development within floodplains reduces the need for "structural solutions," which are both expensive and disruptive to the local environment (Association of State Floodplain Managers, Inc. [ASFPM] 1993). BAS recommends limiting all

development within floodplains (including grading and fill) and prohibiting new residential development. Repairs, reconstruction, or improvements to an existing structure within the floodplain may be allowed, but consideration should be given to the design and structural integrity of these improvements.

The BAS for development within floodplains is generally agreed upon as being the applicable flood resistant provisions of the 2021, 2018, 2015, 2012, and 2009 International Codes (I-Codes); the referenced standard ASCE 24, Flood Resistant Design and Construction; and NFIP requirements. FEMA has compiled the applicable I-Codes provisions into a single document, "Flood Resistant Provisions of the 2021 International Codes" (FEMA 2021). General recommendations for development within a floodplain include:

- For buildings located within more than one SFHA, the provisions associated with the most restrictive SFHA should apply.
- It should be demonstrated through hydrologic and hydraulic analyses performed by an accredited professional that the grading and/or fill will not result in any increase in flood levels.
- Grading and fill should not be approved unless fill is placed, compacted, and sloped to minimize shifting, slumping, and erosion during the rise and fall of flood water.
- Exterior walls extending below the base flood elevation should be constructed with flood-damage-resistant materials.
- The finished ground level of an under-floor space (e.g., a crawl space) should be equal to or higher than the outside finished ground level on one side or more.
- Anchoring to prevent flotation.
- Using flood-resistant construction materials and methods.
- Preventing infiltration of flood waters in utility systems.
- Elevating residential and nonresidential construction above the base flood elevation.

# 7.3.1 Science of Impacts and Mitigation

The most common types of direct human disturbance to floodplains are filling and clearing—often associated with residential development, agriculture, forest practices, or infrastructure improvements—and channelization. The combination of these activities often results in a disconnection of the channel from its floodplains. Floodplains can also be affected indirectly, through alterations of flow regime resulting from flow regulation (e.g., dams and reservoirs) and water withdrawals (e.g., irrigation). Climate change will also affect the flow regime, potentially exacerbating other types of human disturbance within floodplains (ESA 2014).

The BAS for development within floodplains encourages addressing floodplain development to promote flood safety and ecological habitat protection by developing

standards beyond the minimum NFIP requirements. The NFIP encourages such activities through the community rating system (CRS), which provides reduced flood insurance premiums in participating communities (FEMA 2010b, ASFPM 2016).

ASFPM's No Adverse Impact (NAI) floodplain management describes how a community's mitigation program can be augmented and improved (ASFPM 2016). It also identifies how communities can receive CRS credits for implementing NAI tools, which include:

- Flood Acquisition and Relocation Mitigation Projects
- Waterway Restoration through Dam Removal
- Nonstructural Erosion Control and Shoreline Stabilization
- Sustainable Stormwater Management, and
- Mitigating Critical Facilities
- Similarly, Ecology's enhanced flood safety steps include: Habitat protection and endangered species protection.
- Higher regulatory standards beyond the FEMA minimums: For example, some jurisdictions use the "flood of record" elevations to regulate the minimum elevation of structures, where the record flood is higher than the 100-year flood elevation used by FEMA.
- Climate change and unique circumstances: A jurisdiction may have unique risks due to the potential for tsunamis, high tides with strong winds, sea level rise or extreme weather events that it may want to address.

Washington State law (RCW 86.16) contains some additional requirements that are more restrictive than the NFIP, and FEMA requires that communities meet state standards as well. WAC 173-158 outlines administrative rules for implementing RCW 86.16. In addition to adopting the NFIP standards in 44 Code of Federal Regulations parts 59 and 60, WAC 173-158 sets additional standards regarding construction in the floodway and avoiding negative impacts on wetlands.

A Regional Guidance was prepared for communities in the Puget Sound Basin to assist them in meeting the ESA requirements as clarified in the Biological Opinion issued by National Marine Fisheries Service (FEMA 2010b). The Regional Guidance can be used as a reference by communities who wish to prepare studies considering the foreseeable future land use changes in establishing future base flood elevations.

### 7.3.1.1 Climate Change

WAC 365-190-110 requires classifications of frequently flooded areas to include, at a minimum, the FEMA 100-year floodplain designation. It also states that communities should consider the future flow floodplain at build out, the potential effects of climate change, and the effects of increasing impervious surfaces.

The current FEMA guidelines for assessing flood frequency are based on the assumptions that flood distribution is not significantly affected by climatic trends or longer-term cycles and that historical flood behavior is representative of future events. As such, flood studies and floodplain mapping that has been developed based on FEMA guidance may not reflect future watershed and floodplain conditions as affected by climate change (FEMA 2010b, ESA 2014).

FEMA published the impact of climate change and population growth on the NFIP through the year 2100 (FEMA 2013b). Changes to precipitation, land use and sea level rise were considered. The study shows that by the year 2100, the 100-year floodplain depth and lateral size are projected to increase, on average, by 45 percent above current levels across the nation.

In Washington, climate change is expected to exacerbate flooding due to increasing temperature, decreasing snowpack, higher intensity rain events and sea level rise. Further from the coast, flooding is more sensitive to changes in river flow than sea level rise. The highest river flows and heavy rainfall events are generally expected to increase in rain-dominant and in mixed rain and snow watersheds (Mauger and Kennard 2017).

#### 7.3.1.2 Future Land Use

Nationally, about 70 percent of the future increases in the 100-year floodplain areas and flood depth can be attributed to climate change while the remaining 30 percent represents the influence of normal population growth (i.e., land use) (FEMA 2013b). On the contrary, future hydrologic and floodplain conditions in the Puget Sound are more influenced by changes in land cover and land use than by climate change (FEMA 2010b). As such, there is little concrete guidance for how to interpret BAS in determining and mapping future floodplain conditions locally. General agreement is that it is most important to capture future conditions for smaller streams that are in or near areas that are likely to urbanize, such as in or near a city or its urban growth area (UGA).

FEMA recommends that communities evaluate changes to the base flood from expected future watershed development based on the development patterns laid out in their local long range land use plans. At the request of a community and with the approval of FEMA, FIRMs, and Flood Insurance Study reports may include, for informational purposes, flood hazard areas based on projected- or future-conditions hydrologic and hydraulic analyses (FEMA 2019).

### 7.3.1.3 Channel Migration Zones (CMZ)

Channel migration is a natural geologic process, which describes how a stream or river channel moves over time. Streams and rivers may change course or migrate through a variety of factors, such as erosion and deposition of sediments, which alter their geology, geometry, and functionality. As streams and rivers change course, their potential hazards also change. While these processes normally occur over long periods of time, quick avulsions in a single storm, flooding, or human influences can rapidly affect the speed at which a channel changes course or migrates over time (Rapp and Abbe 2003).

In unconfined valleys of Western Washington, lateral channel migration is the primary physical process that creates biodiversity on floodplains. This channel migration also presents a hazard to adjacent communities and infrastructure. These costs and benefits of channel migration make it a central consideration in floodplain management and restoration. The Washington State Shoreline Master Program (SMP) Guidelines require counties to identify the general location of CMZs as part of the shoreline planning process. Managing development within the CMZ allows for the occurrence of fluvial processes, maintains channel complexity and habitat diversity, and reduces potential damage to infrastructure within hazardous areas (Ecology 2014). Ecology has developed tools to guide identification of CMZs from basic planning level assessments to detailed project level assessments (Rapp and Abbe 2003, Legg and Olson 2014, Legg et al. 2014, Olson et al. 2014, Legg and Olson 2015).

Potential CMZs have been identified and mapped throughout Clark County (Clark County 2010). Stream and river reaches are identified as having a Moderate-Low, Moderate, Moderate-High, and High potential for channel migration based on review of existing data. In some cases, field checks were performed on streams that WDFW thought had migrated. Existing relevant data used in this analysis include channel characteristics, such as confinement and gradient; geographic information system soils and geology data; aerial photographs; maps; light detection and ranging (LIDAR); and/or spatial and temporal data (Clark County 2010). Streams that have High CMZ ranking within Vancouver or its UGA are predominantly Salmon Creek and some parts of Burnt Bridge Creek.

# 7.4 SUMMARY EVALUATION OF EXISTING ORDINANCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Vancouver's frequently flooded areas ordinance (VMC 20.740.120) is generally consistent with state (RCW 86.16) and federal NFIP requirements for flood control and protection. VMC 20.740.120 identifies regulated flood hazard areas, provides procedures for development permits, review, and enforcement, and floodproofing requirements.

Vancouver could also consider the future flow floodplain at buildout, the potential effects of climate change, and the effects of increasing impervious surfaces when designating and frequently flooded areas (WAC 365-190-110).

Recommendation: Require, or at a minimum encourage, consideration of future conditions during investigation of base flood elevation. Updated standards could reference available guidance for future conditions (FEMA 2010b, FEMA 2013, FEMA 2019), Washington RiskMAP program (Ecology 2022a) or other more useful and applicable methods that may become available in the future. Clark County's approach to classification and definition of CMZs is consistent with approaches described in literature on CMZ mapping. Map 27 in the Clark County (2010) Shoreline Inventory and Characterization Report, which shows the potential CMZs, is incorporated by reference in VMC 20.740.120 and development in the CMZ is regulated similar to a SFHA that is not the floodway. The determination of what land use is allowed within different parts of the CMZ is based upon a policy decision rather than a science-based determination, and therefore not restricted by BAS criteria. Jurisdictions, such as King County and Pierce County, regulate severe risk CMZs as floodways.

Recommendation: Consider regulating severe risk CMZs as floodways, where new development is generally not allowed.

# 8.0 FISH AND WILDLIFE HABITAT CONSERVATION AREAS

Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas are the various highly productive and diverse ecosystems that provide resources and functions necessary for fish and wildlife and the surrounding human populations. These critical area functions include, but are not limited to, the protection of sensitive species, water quality, and bank stability, and the provision of corridors for movement between habitat and of habitat for foraging, nesting, overwintering, rearing, escape, and cover. These areas also benefit local communities by providing water quality improvements and protection from flooding, and financial opportunities related to recreation, tourism, and education, among others. BAS indicates that the identification and characterization of these areas, and providing protective measures such as buffers for them, is critical to maintaining the functions and values they provide. This report relies primarily on WDFW management recommendations, which are a consolidation of scientific literature and information on the importance of various habitats.

### 8.1 IDENTIFICATION AND CLASSIFICATION

The following fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas are applicable to the city and must be considered for classification and designation per WAC 365-190-130:

- a) Areas where endangered, threatened, and sensitive species have a primary association, including federal and state species (WDFW priority habitats and species, including riparian habitat areas) and state priority habitat areas associated with state priority species.
- b) Habitats and species of local importance, as determined locally; including heritage tree sites within the city.
- c) Naturally occurring ponds under 20 acres and their submerged aquatic beds that provide fish or wildlife habitat.
- d) Waters of the state:
  - Type S waters are all waters, within their bankfull width, as inventoried as "shorelines of the state" under RCW Chapter 90.58 and the rules promulgated pursuant to Chapter 90.58, including periodically inundated areas of their associated wetlands. Type S shorelines are regulated under the city's shoreline

master program (1974) that the City is currently updating. The Columbia River and Washougal River within the city are Type S waters.

- Type F waters are segments of natural waters that are not classified as Type S waters and have a high fish, wildlife, or human use. These are segments of natural waters and the periodically inundated areas of their associated wetlands. Gibbons Creek is an example of a Type F water within the city.
- Type Np waters are all segments of natural waters within defined channels that are perennial non-fish habitat streams. Perennial streams are waters that do not go dry at any time of a year of normal rainfall. However, for the purpose of water typing, Type Np waters include the intermittently dry portions of the perennial channel below the uppermost point of perennial flow.
- Type Ns waters are all segments of natural waters within defined channels that are not Type S, F, or Np waters. These are seasonal, non-fish habitat streams in which surface flow is not present for at least some portion of a year of normal rainfall and are not located downstream from any stream reach that is a Type Np water. Type Ns waters must be physically connected by an aboveground channel system to a Type S, F, or Np water.
- e) Lakes, ponds, streams, and rivers planted with game fish by a governmental or tribal entity.
- f) State natural area preserves, natural resource conservation areas, and state wildlife areas.

The fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas described above have been identified by the WAC for their intrinsic value and because they contribute to the state's biodiversity. This review addressed the BAS regarding the functions and values of these habitat conservation areas and the measures recommended to protect them. Each of the fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas noted above that are present within the city are important to various ecosystems. For example, riparian areas cover a relatively small area but they support a higher diversity and abundance of fish and wildlife than any other habitat (Rentz et al. 2020). Riparian areas also support a significant number of threatened, endangered, sensitive, and priority species, and directly influence instream habitat; therefore, protecting riparian areas is directly linked to several fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas listed above (i.e., waters of the state). Protecting riparian habitat areas meets several of the goals and policy recommendations of WAC 365-190.130 Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas. The BAS regarding the protection of riparian habitats is discussed below.

Additionally, areas associated with federally listed threatened, endangered, sensitive, and candidate species are determined by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Fisheries. Areas associated with state-listed threatened, endangered and sensitive species are determined by WDFW. Determinations of state and federally listed species are made (by mandate of the WAC and ESA, respectively) solely on the basis of the best scientific and commercial data available. Thus, the protection of these species, by nature of their designation, is rooted in BAS. Furthermore, both the USFWS and NOAA Fisheries have developed rigorous species assessments in order to collect data

about a given species. The data includes, but is not limited to, information about the life history, biology, population structure and abundance, and threats and vulnerability to the species. In addition to aiding in the determination of species listings, the information collected in these assessments is used to support and advise on policy and management recommendations. As their designations and protection are rooted in BAS, these species are not discussed in detail in this report.

### 8.2 BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE FOR FISH AND WILDLIFE HABITAT CONSERVATION AREAS

### 8.2.1 Riparian Areas

Riparian areas are situated adjacent to aquatic habitat and are transitional areas that contain elements of both aquatic and upland ecosystems, which mutually influence each other.

Functions provided by riparian areas include water quality, streambank stabilization, maintaining moist and mild microclimates and cool stream temperatures, nutrient cycling/inputs, and flood control. Riparian areas also offer multilayered habitat structure and complexity that provide habitat for breeding, rearing, forage, cover, escape, and migration, and habitat connectivity between aquatic and terrestrial habitats. Functioning riparian habitat is essential for a number of threatened, endangered, sensitive, and priority species, including salmon and steelhead, reptiles and amphibians, cavity nesting birds, and migratory birds, among others (Rentz et al. 2020). While protecting these areas can be controversial and restrict the development potential of private and public property, on the other hand, limiting development in riparian areas can benefit humans by protecting water quality in streams and rivers used as drinking water and can promote healthy fish populations that are a source of food for people.

WDFW's *Management Recommendations* indicates that the protection of riparian habitat may yield the greatest gains for fish and wildlife (and by extension humans) while involving the least amount of area, when compared to other habitats, because riparian habitat:

- covers a relatively small area yet supports a higher diversity and abundance of fish and wildlife than any other habitat;
- provides important fish and wildlife breeding habitat, seasonal ranges, and movement corridors;
- is highly vulnerable to alteration; and
- has important social values, including water purification, flood control, recreation, and aesthetics.

Approximately 85 percent of Washington's wildlife species have been known to use riparian habitat associated with rivers and streams (Thomas 1979). Many of these species are dependent on riparian areas for at least one stage in their life cycles, while others may use riparian areas only occasionally or to move between habitats

(O'Connell et al. 1993). Reptiles, amphibians, cavity nesting ducks and other waterfowl, beaver, otter, and great blue heron are examples of species that rely almost exclusively on riparian area habitats and their proximity to water, and mild microclimates for breeding, nesting, rearing, forage, and cover. Other species, such as migratory birds, rely on these highly productive habitats as stopover locations during seasonal migration, or as breeding and rearing habitat before or after migration, and thus may be present only during specific seasons (Andelman and Stock 1994).

Riparian areas are linked by definition to instream fish habitat and support its functions for fish. Seventy-seven species of fish inhabit freshwater in Washington for all or a portion of their lives (Wydoski and Whitney 1979), including ESA-listed salmon and various other native aquatic species. Riparian areas provide a number of physical, chemical, and biological processes for instream habitats, including maintaining appropriate water temperatures; stabilizing stream channels and banks; providing inputs of large woody debris (LWD); regulating stream velocity; storing, conserving, and purifying water; providing nutrient inputs and cycling; and providing and maintaining migratory habitat (Cummins 1974, Harmon et al. 1986, Beschta 1978, Sullivan et al. 1987, Meehan and Bjornn 1991, Swanston 1991). LWD inputs from riparian areas provide complex stream structure, including pools and riffles, and cover for hiding and escape. Side channels, backwater wetlands, and floodplains also provide invaluable rearing, hiding, cover, and escape habitat for juvenile salmon.

Riparian areas are not just valuable as fish and wildlife habitat, they provide important water quality, flood control, recreation, and aesthetics functions for people as well. Functioning riparian areas can filter 40 to 90 percent of organic debris and environmental pollutants from surface water before the pollutants enter stream channels (Lowrance et al. 1984, Rhodes et al. 1985). The natural water quality functions provided by riparian areas can reduce the contamination, and ease our reliance on water quality treatment facilities. When flood waters move through riparian areas, vegetation acts to slow stream water velocity, and the slowed flood waters deposit sediment loads, and infiltrate soils. Because functioning riparian areas retain flood waters and reduce their velocity and erosive forces, these areas protect downstream communities from flooding and stream bank erosion, and minimize flood damage to structures and other assets such as cropland (Griggs 1984, Roseboom and Russell 1985, Booth 1991). In addition to their preventive functions for people (water quality and flood prevention), riparian areas also provide financial benefits by supporting recreational opportunities for hunting and fishing (Theurer et al. 1985). Other recreational activities supported by functioning riparian habitat include hiking, bird watching, camping, and tourism (Knutson and Naef 1997).

### 8.2.2 Priority Habitats and Species

### 8.2.2.1 Biodiversity Areas and Corridors

Biodiversity areas and corridors are areas of habitat that are relatively important to various species of native fish and wildlife. WDFW's mapping tool for priority habitats and species (PHS) identifies a biodiversity area within the City associated with Burnt Bridge Creek. Biodiversity areas that have been identified as biologically

diverse through a scientifically based assessment conducted over a landscape scale (e.g., ecoregion, countywide or citywide, watershed, etc.). These areas could also be within a city or a UGA and contain habitat that is valuable to fish or wildlife and is mostly comprised of native vegetation. Relative to other vegetated areas in the same city or UGA, the mapped area is vertically diverse (e.g., multiple canopy layers, snags, or downed wood), horizontally diverse (e.g., contains a mosaic of native habitats), or supports a diverse community of species as identified by a qualified professional who has a degree in biology or closely related field and professional experience related to the habitats or species occurring in the biodiversity area. These areas may have more limited wildlife functions than other priority habitat areas due to the general nature and constraints of these sites in that they are often isolated or surrounded by highly urbanized lands (WDFW 2008).

Corridors are areas of relatively undisturbed and unbroken tracts of vegetation that connect fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas, priority habitats, areas identified as biologically diverse, or valuable habitats within a city or UGA (WDFW 2008).

#### 8.2.2.2 Oregon White Oak Woodlands

Oregon white oak (*Quercus garryana*) is Washington's only native oak. WDFW's PHS mapping tool identifies several areas of Oregon white oak in the city. Although limited and declining, oaks and their associated floras comprise distinct woodland ecosystems. The various plant communities and stand age mixtures within oak forests provide valuable habitat that contributes to wildlife diversity statewide. In conjunction with other forest types, oak woodlands provide a mix of feeding, resting, and breeding habitat for many wildlife species. More than 200 vertebrate and a profusion of invertebrate species use Washington's oak woodlands. Some species occur in especially high densities, whereas others are not typically found in Washington. Oaks provide habitat for species that are state listed as Sensitive, Threatened, Endangered, or candidates for these listings (Larsen and Morgan 1998).

"Priority Oregon white oak woodlands are stands of pure oak or oak/conifer associations where canopy coverage of the oak component of the stand is \$25%; or where total canopy coverage of the stand is <25 percent, but oak accounts for at least 50 percent of the canopy coverage present. The latter is often referred to as an oak savanna. In non-urbanized areas west of the Cascades, priority oak habitat is stands 0.4 hectare (1 acre) in size. In urban or urbanizing areas, single oaks, or stands of oaks <0.4 hectare (1 acre), may also be considered priority habitat when found to be particularly valuable to fish and wildlife (i.e., they contain many cavities, have a large diameter at breast height, are used by priority species, or have a large canopy)" (Larsen and Morgan 1998).

Oregon white oak woodlands are used by an abundance of mammals, birds, reptiles, and amphibians. Many invertebrates, including various moths, butterflies, gall wasps, and spiders, are found exclusively in association with this oak species. Oak/conifer associations provide contiguous aerial pathways for animals such as the State Threatened western gray squirrel, and they provide important roosting, nesting, and
feeding habitat for wild turkeys and other birds and mammals. Dead oaks and dead portions of live oaks harbor insect populations and provide nesting cavities. Acorns, oak leaves, fungi, and insects provide food. Some birds, such as the Nashville warbler, exhibit unusually high breeding densities in oak. Oaks in Washington may play a critical role in the conservation of neotropical migrant birds that migrate through, or nest in, Oregon white oak woodlands (Larsen and Morgan 1998).

The decline of Oregon white oak woodlands has been accelerated by human activities –primarily oak removal. Conifer encroachment is a significant threat to remaining oaks, particularly on the west side of the Cascades and in portions of the Columbia Gorge, and is aggravated by urban development, fire suppression, timber conversion, and cattle grazing. Grazing is a primary use of oak woodlands and reduces species richness of ground cover, increases soil moisture, compacts soils, and disturbs sod, all of which may promote conifer growth and encroachment west of the Cascades. East of the Cascades, these pressures may also affect oak woodlands. In addition, the selective harvest of east-side conifers is detrimental to those wildlife species that depend on mixed oak/conifer associations. Fire suppression has also contributed to the decline of Oregon white oak woodlands. Natural fires and those intentionally set by Native Americans historically played a paramount role in oak forest ecology, especially natural oak regeneration. Frequent low-intensity fires curbed conifer encroachment, controlled stand density, and initiated oak sprouting. Today, managed burning can help restore degraded oak habitat (Larsen and Morgan 1998).

# 8.3 SCIENCE OF IMPACTS AND MITIGATION

# 8.3.1 Riparian Ecosystems

The scientific literature supports the importance of riparian ecosystems and the importance of maintaining riparian vegetation to support stream channel stability and the longitudinal, lateral, and vertical connectivity to quality fish and wildlife habitat. Management of riparian areas should regulate all land use activities that affect riparian ecosystems to ensure that the existing functions and values are protected from development. Land use impacts include impacts from forestry, road infrastructure, agriculture, urbanization, and stream channel modification. These impacts can affect important stream and riparian ecosystem components that create diverse habitats including large wood recruitment, nutrient inputs, diverse stream channel morphology (i.e., riffles, pools, runs, etc.), stream temperature regulation, groundwater recharge, pollutant removal, filtering of sediment and nutrients, etc.

### Large Wood

Impacts from land uses, including forestry, agriculture, and urbanization affecting riparian forests, remove riparian forests and can lead to a reduction in the availability of large wood to fish bearing streams. Riparian forest management is key to conservation of fish habitats in forested areas in Washington.

### Stream Temperature

Studies have clearly shown that a reduction of stream shade from vegetation removal results in warmer summer stream temperatures (Sridhar et al. 2004; Allen et al. 2007).

The type and condition of riparian vegetation plays an important role in the amount of solar radiation reaching a stream's surface. Management of vegetation in riparian areas can affect stream temperatures, which impacts fish, amphibians, and invertebrate populations and survival. Fish can be sensitive to altered thermal regimes, especially salmonids, which can be sensitive to high water temperatures and have a narrow thermal tolerance (Farrell et al. 2008; Eliason et al. 2011; Ayllon et al. 2013).

### Pollutant Removal

Riparian buffers help reduce the flow of pollutants to aquatic ecosystems with removal functions depending on the complex interactions between vegetation, soil, and hydrology. Because of the variability between vegetation, soil, and hydrology, as well as spatial and temporal variability, pollutant removal functions can vary greatly between and within riparian sites. This variability can make management decisions regarding riparian buffer width difficult to determine, as there has been no widely accepted recommendations on buffer width. Desired pollutant removal outcomes should be based on:

- 1. Factual information regarding the anticipated impacts or outcomes of policy options (i.e., science);
- 2. An understanding of stakeholders' priorities and preferences (i.e., values); and
- 3. A process for using science and values to explore tradeoffs amongst policy options (Wilhere and Quinn 2018).

# Filtering of Sediment and Nutrients

Riparian areas provide filtration for sediment and crucial sources and sinks for organic matter and nutrients for streams. Riparian areas are important areas that facilitate the movements of nutrients between upland areas and streams. Impacts to riparian areas that result in a physical disconnection or degradation of the integrity of the riparian area function will negatively affect the ability of the riparian area to provide filtering or removal of sediment and nutrients.

# 8.3.1.1 Management Recommendations

Generally, recommendations include limiting or restricting activities that may affect riparian areas negatively; examples include tree and vegetation removal, road building, agriculture and grazing, and clearing and earth moving for development (Knutson and Naef 1997). There is limited specific information regarding the level of development or activity a riparian area can withstand, and while they provide similar functions, all riparian areas are different, and support different communities of species; therefore, WDFW recommends a conservative approach to riparian habitat protection. To protect the functions and values of riparian areas, WDFW recommends designating riparian areas that are wide enough to allow proper functioning of riparian and aquatic ecosystems, including protection of instream habitat through temperature and sediment control, preservation of fish and wildlife habitat, and connectivity between aquatic, riparian, and upland habitats. The goal of this recommendation is to protect the full range of riparian functions, not just instream habitat by buffering adjacent, more upland uses. WDFW-published literature showed

that widths recommended for riparian management zones (RMZs) that protect the full range of ecological functions necessary to support fish and wildlife is estimated by one 200-year site potential tree height (SPTH<sub>200</sub>). The RMZ in areas of the state that currently or historically supported forests (i.e., Vancouver) is defined as the distance of one SPTH, where the SPTH<sub>200</sub> is the average maximum height attained by dominant trees at 200 years of age, measured from the edge of the active channel or CMZ, whichever is wider. The RMZ describes the area that has the potential to provide full riparian function, regardless of its current conditions. Measuring the RMZ width at the outer edge of the CMZ ensures that when the stream migrates, it will still be adjacent to the zone of influence that can provide riparian function (Rentz et al. 2020).

The RMZ is a scientifically based description of the area adjacent to rivers and streams that has the potential to provide full functions based on the SPTH<sub>200</sub> conceptual framework (Rentz et al. 2020). WDFW notes that most riparian areas in forested ecoregions the SPTH<sub>200</sub> is 100 feet or greater, and so the RMZ is delineated using one SPTH<sub>200</sub>. However, if the SPTH<sub>200</sub> is less than 100 feet, WDFW recommends that the RMZ be delineated based on the pollution removal function, which is considered a minimum of 100 feet because this distance will achieve 95 percent or more removal efficacy of phosphorous, sediment, and most pesticides (Rentz et al. 2020).

Current site conditions should always be considered when reviewing regulations, with the ultimate goal of maintaining remaining riparian functions. Additional management recommendations include improving functions through voluntary restoration, and maintaining and enhancing connectivity laterally along the stream. Areas closer to the stream provide the greatest conservation benefit and should be prioritized for preservation, replanting, or restoration. Using low impact development techniques to better manage stormwater, and adopting a stormwater design manual equivalent to Ecology's most current version of Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington are also recommended (Rentz et al. 2020).

To aid with site-specific RMZ delineation, WDFW created an internet-based mapping tool that reports recommended widths for RMZs statewide based on SPTH<sub>200</sub>. The tool also notes instances where a 100-foot RMZ should be applied to support the pollution removal function. Appendix 1 of the management recommendations provides guidance on how to use these interactive maps. The guidance notes that in highly altered areas where soil data are not available, it may be necessary to estimate SPTH<sub>200</sub> values based on nearby soils.

# 8.3.1.2 Mitigation

A near consensus of scientific opinion holds that the most effective and reliable means of maintaining viable self-sustaining fish, especially salmon, is to maintain/restore ecosystems to conditions that resemble or emulate their historical range of natural variability (Swanson et al. 1994; Reeves et al. 1995; Bisson et al. 2009). This opinion is based in part on the complexity of processes that affect the expression of habitats over time and space. The following steps in the mitigation sequence according to the implementing rules of SEPA (Chapter 197-11-768 WAC) would apply to riparian areas:

- Avoiding the impact altogether by not taking a certain action or parts of an action;
- Minimizing impacts by limiting the degree or magnitude of the impacts;
- Rectifying the impact by repairing, rehabilitating, or restoring the affected environment;
- Reducing or eliminating the impact over time by preservation and maintenance operations during the life of the action;
- Compensating for the impact by replacing, enhancing, or providing substitute resources or environments; and/or
- Monitoring the impact and taking appropriate corrective measures.

# 8.3.2 Priority Habitat and Species

WDFW's PHS list is periodically updated and includes species and habitats for which special conservation measures should be taken. The PHS list explains why each priority habitat and species is on the list, shows which counties have that species or habitat, and provides links to PHS management recommendations. Cities and counties use the PHS list when designating and protecting Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas under the GMA and SMA.

### 8.3.2.1 Oregon White Oak Woodlands Management Recommendations

WDFW's *Management Recommendations* for Oregon white oak woodlands are designed to maintain and enhance the integrity of Oregon white oak woodlands, reverse the trend of oak habitat loss, and promote the protection of oak habitat that is presently in good condition. Oaks west of the Cascades and in wetter sites along the Columbia Gorge should be cut only for stand enhancement. Replacing the wholesale removal of mixed oak/conifer stands with selective cutting would reduce fragmentation and conifer encroachment, and it would benefit structural and vegetative species diversity within oak forests. Encroaching conifers within oak groves should be thinned, and conifers adjacent to these stands should be retained for wildlife. An alternative to removing trees is to leave them standing as snags (Larsen and Morgan 1998).

Specific recommendations include the following:

- Do not cut Oregon white oak woodlands except for habitat enhancement.
- Allow only early spring, low-impact cattle grazing.
- Allow low-impact recreation (hunting, fishing, hiking, and mushroom and acorn collecting).
- Selectively harvest individual oaks to improve stand age-class and structural diversity.

- Thin encroaching conifers in oak woodlands west of the Cascades and along the Columbia Gorge; do not remove conifers from mixed stands east of the Cascades.
- Retain large, dominant oaks and standing dead and dying trees.
- Create snags when thinning oaks or conifers instead of removing trees.
- Leave fallen trees, limbs, and leaf litter for foraging, nesting, and denning sites.
- Retain contiguous aerial pathways.
- Conduct prescribed burns where appropriate.

# 8.4 SUMMARY EVALUATION OF EXISTING ORDINANCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The City should update the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Areas section (VMC 20.740.110) of their development code based on the current RCWs and WACs, including (1) revising the definition of fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas to be consistent with the State's definition, (2) add language to the existing ordinance that addresses priority habitat and species and their associated management recommendations (i.e., habitat associated with listed species, oak woodlands, biodiversity areas, etc.), (3) add language to the existing ordinance that addresses changes in how riparian management areas are determined and protected, and (4) add conservation and protection measures that preserve or enhance anadromous fish and their habitat important for all life stages.

Specific recommendations by WDFW associated with riparian management areas for urban riparian ecosystems include the following (Rentz et al. 2020):

- Update riparian area widths to meet WDFW guidance.
- Delineate urban RMZs to protect what areas remain and to highlight lost or degraded areas to target for restoration.
- Quantify current conditions, with a goal of maintaining and improving functions through regulatory and voluntary means.
- Identify and prioritize restoration opportunities and projects within the RMZ
  - Protect riparian functions that remain, especially in places that are relatively high functioning; implement actions that enhance degraded functions
  - Prioritize opportunities to maintain and restore in-stream and riparian connectivity.
  - Adopt a stormwater design manual equivalent to Ecology's most current manual for western Washington
  - Manage stormwater by adopting Ecology's latest manual regarding LID for new development, redevelopment and retrofit projects.
- When replacing or removing existing infrastructure with in an RMZ:
  - Map RMZ to pinpoint the best sites to restore consider connectivity and adjacency to other priority habitats;
  - Improve aquatic connectivity by replacing culverts and removing barriers to movement;

- Revegetate with native plants and consider improvements for wildlife by integrating structures necessary for nesting, breeding and foraging;
- As infrastructure is remodeled or replaced, incorporate additional setbacks for streams;
- o Control access to RMZ to limit soil compaction; and
- Avoid operating equipment near the stream to reduce sedimentation and soil compaction; and avoiding using chemicals in the RMZ that are not approved for use there by Ecology.

# 9.0 **REFERENCES**

- Adamus, P.R., E.J. Clairain, Jr., M.E. Morrow, L.P. Rozas, and R.D. Smith. 1991.
   Wetland Evaluation Technique (WET), Volume I: Literature Review and Evaluation. WRP-DE-2. Vicksburg MS: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station.
- Allen, D., W.E. Dietrich, P.F. Baker, F. Ligon, and B. Orr. 2007. Development of a mechanistically-based, basin-scale stream temperature model: applications to cumulative effects modeling. Pages 11-24 in R.B. Standiford, G.A. Giusti, Y. Valachovic, W.J. Zielinski, M.J. Furniss, technical editors. Proceedings of the Redwood Region forest science symposium: what does the future hold? PSW-GTR-194. U.S. Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, California.
- American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE). 2016. Minimum Design Loads for Buildings and Other Structures, 7 (2016 ASCE-7 Standard).
- Andelman, S.J., and A. Stock. 1994. Management, research and monitoring priorities for the conservation of neotropical migratory landbirds that breed in Washington state. Wash. Nat. Heritage Prog., Wash. Dept. Nat. Resour., Olympia. (Irr. Pag.).
- Ayllón D., G.G. Nicola, B. Elvira, I. Parra, and A. Almodóvar. 2013. Thermal carrying capacity for a thermally-sensitive species at the warmest edge of its range. PLoS One 8:e81354.
- Association of State Floodplain Managers, Inc. (ASFPM). 2016. NAI How-to Guide for Mitigation. No Adverse Impact Committee of the ASFPM. July 2016.
- Association of State Floodplain Managers, Inc. (ASFPM). 1993. Terminology and Standards for Community-Level Flood Preparedness Programs. Flood Warning and Preparedness Subcommittee of the ASFPM Flood Mitigation Committee. February 1993.
- Beschta, R.L. 1978. Long-term patterns of sediment production following road construction and logging in the Oregon coast range. Water Resour. Res. 14:1011-1016.
- Bisson, P.A., J.B. Dunham, and G.H. Reeves. 2009. Freshwater ecosystems and resilience of Pacific salmon: habitat management based on natural variability. Ecology and Society 14(1):45.
- Booth, D.B. 1991. Urbanization and the natural drainage system impacts, solutions, and prognoses. Northwest Environ. J. 7:93-118.
- Burns, W.J. and K.A. Mickelson. 2012. Protocol for deep-landslide susceptibility mapping, Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries Special Paper 48.

- Clark County. 2010. Clark County Shoreline Inventory & Characterization. Clark County Coalition SMP Update. June 2010.
- Clark County Public Works. 2021. Flood Insurance Rate Maps. Available at: <u>https://clark.wa.gov/public-works/flood-insurance-rate-maps</u>.
- Cowardin, L.M., V. Carter, F.C. Golet, and E.T. LaRoe. 1979. Classification of Wetlands and Deepwater Habitats of the United States. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Publ. FWS/OBS-79/31. 131 pp.
- Cummins, K.W. 1974. Structure and function of stream ecosystems. BioSci. 24:631-641.
- Eliason, E.J., T.D. Clark, M.J. Hague, L.M. Hanson, Z.S. Gallagher, K.M. Jeffries, M.K. Gale, D.A. Patterson, S.G. Hinch, and A.P. Farrell. 2011. Differences in thermal tolerance among Sockeye Salmon populations. Science 332:109-112.
  Farrell, A.P., S.G. Hinch, S.J. Cooke, D.A. Patterson, G.T. Crossin, M. Lapointe, and M.T. Mathes. 2008. Pacific salmon in hot water: applying aerobic scope models and biotelemetry to predict the success of spawning migrations. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 81:697-709.
- Environmental Science Associates (ESA). 2014. Kittitas County Critical Areas Ordinance – Best Available Science Review and Considerations for Code Update. Kittitas County Community Development Services. June 2014.
- Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). 1990. Memorandum of Agreement Between the Environmental Protection Agency and the Department of the Army Concerning the Determination of Mitigation Under the Clean Water Act Section 404(b)(1) Guidelines.
- Farrell et al. 2008. Pacific Salmon in Hot Water: Applying Aerobic Scope Models and Biotelemetry to Predict the Success of Spawning Migrations.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2021. Flood Resistant Provisions of the 2021 International Codes. January 2021.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2020. NEHRP Recommended Seismic Provisions for New Buildings and Other Structures. September 2020.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2018. Flood Resistant Provisions of the 2018 International Codes. January 2018.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2019. Guidance for Flood Risk Analysis and Mapping: General Hydrologic Conditions. February 2019.

- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2013. Floodplain management and the Endangered Species Act checklist for programmatic compliance. November 2013.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2013b. The Impact Of Climate Change and Population Growth on the National Flood Insurance Program through 2100. June 2013.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Region 10. 2010b. Regional guidance for hydrologic and hydraulic studies in support of the model ordinance for floodplain management under the National Flood Insurance Program and the Endangered Species Act. January 2010.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2007. Managing Floodplain Development through the NFIP. March 2007.
- Granger, T., T. Hruby, A. McMillan, D. Peters, J. Rubey, D. Sheldon, S. Stanley, E. Stockdale. 2005. Wetlands in Washington State, Volume 2 – Guidance for Protecting and Managing Wetlands. Washington State Department of Ecology Publication No. 05-06-008.
- Griggs, G.B. 1984. Flood control and riparian system destruction: lower San Lorenzo River, Santa Cruz County, California. Pp. 142-149 in R.E. Warner and K.M. Hendrix, eds. California riparian systems: ecology, conservation, and productive management. Univ. California Press, Berkeley.
- Harmon, M.E., J.F. Franklin, F.J. Swanson, P. Sollins, J.D. Gregory, J.D. Lattin, N.H. Anderson, S.P. Cline, N.G. Aumen, J.R. Sedell, G.W. Lienkaemper, K. Cromack Jr., and K.W. Cummins. 1986. Ecology of coarse woody debris in temperate ecosystems. Adv. Ecol. Res. 15:133-302.
- Highland, L.M. and Peter Bobrowsky. 2008. The landslide handbook—a guide to understanding landslides, U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia, Circular 1325. 129 pp.
- Hruby, T. 2011. Calculating Credits and Debits for Compensatory Mitigation in Wetlands of Western Washington (Operational Draft). Prepared by the Washington State Department of Ecology. Publication No. 11-06-011. http://www.ecy.wa.gov/biblio/sea2011.html.
- Hruby, T. 2014. Washington State Wetland Rating System for Western Washington: 2014 Update. (Publication #14-06-029). Olympia, WA: Washington Department of Ecology.
- International Code Council. 2018. 2018 International Building Code. Third Printing, October 2018.

- Johnson, D.H. and T.A. O'Neil (eds.) 2001. Wildlife-Habitat Relationships in Oregon and Washington. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University Press. 736 pp.
- Knutson, K.L. and V.L. Naef. 1997. Management recommendations for Washington's priority habitats: riparian. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington. 181 pp.
- Kusler, J. and J. Christie. 2011. Wetlands and Carbon Storage and Carbon Sequestration. White Paper: Reducing Climate Change Impacts and Promoting Fish and Wildlife: Findings and Recommendations for Biological Carbon Storage and Sequestering. Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies and the Association of State Wetland Managers.
- Larsen and Morgan. 1998. Management Recommendations for Washington's Priority Habitats: Oregon White Oak Woodlands. Wash. Dept. Fish and Wildl., Olympia. 37pp.
- Legg, N.T. and P.L Olson. 2015. Screening Tools for Identifying Migrating Stream Channels in Western Washington: Geospatial Data Layer and Visual Assessments. Washington State Department of Ecology. Ecology Publication #15-06-003.
- Legg, N.T. and P.L Olson. 2014. Channel Migration Processes and Patterns in Western Washington: A Synthesis for Floodplain Management and Restoration. Ecology Publication #14-06-028.
- Legg, N.T., C. Heimburg, B.D. Collins, P.L. Olson. 2014. The Channel Migration Toolbox: ArcGIS Tools for Measuring Stream Channel Migration. Ecology Publication #14-06-032.
- Lowrance, R., R. Leonard, R. Todd, J.J. Fail, O. Hendrickson, R. Leonard, and L. Asmussen. 1984. Riparian forests as nutrient filters in agricultural watersheds. Biol. Sci. 34:374-377.
- Mauger, G.S. and H.M. Kennard. 2017. Integrating Climate Resilience in Flood Risk Management: A Work plan for the Washington Silver Jackets. Report Prepared for FEMA. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington.
- McMillan, A. 2000. The Science of Wetland Buffers and its Implication for the Management of Wetlands. M.S. Thesis. The Evergreen State College. Olympia, WA.
- Meehan, W.R., T.C. Bjornn. 1991. Salmonid distributions and life histories. Pp. 47-82 in W. R. Meehan, ed. Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats. Am. Fish. Soc., Bethesda, Md.

Mitsch, W.J. and J.G. Gosselink. 2000. Wetlands. Third edition. John Wiley & Sons.

- Mitsch, W. J., B. Bernal, A.M. Nahlik, U. Mander, L Zhang, C.J. Anderson, S.E. Jorgensen, and H. Brix. 2013. Wetlands, carbon, and climate change. Landscape Ecol 28, 583–597.
- Nahlik, A.M. and M.S. Fennessy. 2016. Carbon Storage in U.S. Wetlands. Nature Communications 7:13835.
- National Research Council (NRC) 2001. Wetlands: Functions and Strategies for Management. The National Academies Press. Washington, DC.
- O'Connell, M.A., J.G. Hallett, and S.D. West. 1993. Wildlife use of riparian habitats: a literature review. TFWWL1-93-001. Wash. Dept. Nat. Resour., Olympia, WA. 162pp.
- Olson, P.L., N.T. Legg, T.B. Abbe, M.A. Reinhart, J.K. Radloff. 2014. A Methodology for Delineating Planning-Level Channel Migration Zones. Ecology Publication #14-06-025.
- Quinn, T., G.F. Wilhere, and K.L. Krueger, technical editors. 2020. Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 1: Science Synthesis and Management Implications. Habitat Program, Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia.
- Rapp, C.F. and T.B. Abbe. 2003. A framework for delineating channel migration zones. Washington State Department of Ecology. Ecology Publication #03-06-027.
- Reeves, G.H., L.E. Benda, K.M. Burnett, P.A. Bisson, and J.R. Sedell. 1995. A disturbance-based ecosystem approach to maintaining and restoring freshwater habitats of evolutionary significant units of anadromous salmonids in the Pacific Northwest. American Fisheries Society Symposium 17:334-349.
- Rentz, R., A. Windrope, K. Folkerts, and J. Azerrad. 2020. Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 2: Management Recommendations. Habitat Program, Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia.
- Rhodes, J., C.M. Skau, D. Greenlee, and D.L. Brown. 1985. Quantification of nitrate uptake by riparian forests and wetlands in an undisturbed headwaters watershed.
  Pp. 175-186 in R.R. Johnson, C.D. Ziebell, D.R. Patton, P.F. Ffolliott, and R.H. Hamre, eds. Riparian ecosystems and their management: reconciling conflicting uses. U.S. For. Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep. RM-120.
- Roseboom, D., and K. Russell. 1985. Riparian vegetation reduces stream bank and row crop flood damage. Pp. 241-244 in R.R. Johnson, C. D. Ziebell, D.R. Patton, P.F. Ffolliott, and R.H. Hamre, eds. Riparian ecosystems and their management: reconciling conflicting uses. U.S. For. Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep. RM-120.

- Sheldon, D., T. Hruby, P. Johnson, K. Harper, A. McMillan, T. Granger, S. Stanley, and E. Stockdale. 2005. Wetlands in Washington State, Vol. 1: A Synthesis of the Science. Washington State Department of Ecology Publication #05-06-006. Olympia, WA.
- Sridhar, V., A.L. Sansone, J. Lamarche, T. Dubin, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2004. Prediction of stream temperature in forested watersheds. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 40:197-213.
- Sullivan, K., T.E. Lisle, C.A. Dolloff, G.E. Grant, and L.M. Reid. 1987. Stream channels: the link between forests and fishes. In: E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, eds. Streamside management: forestry and fishery interactions, pp. 39-97. Coll. For. Resour. Contrib. No. 57, Univ. Washington, Seattle.
- Swanston, D.N. 1991. Natural processes. *In:* W.R. Meehan, ed. Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats, pp. 139-179. Am. Fish. Soc., Spec. Publ. 19. Bethesda, Md.
- Swanson, F.J., J.A. Jones, D.O. Wallin, and J.H. Cissel. 1994. Natural variabilityimplications for ecosystem management. Pages 80-94 in M.E. Jensen and P.S. Bourgeron, technical coordinators. Volume II: ecosystem management: principles and applications. PNW-GTR-318. U.S. Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, Oregon.
- Theurer, F.D., I. Lines, and T. Nelson. 1985. Interaction between riparian vegetation, water temperature, and salmonid habitat in the Tucannon River. Water Res. Bull. 21:53-64.
- Thomas, J.W. 1979. Wildlife habitats in managed forests: the Blue Mountains of Oregon and Washington. First ed. U.S. For. Serv., Portland, Oregon. 512 pp.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). 2008. Compensatory Mitigation for Losses of Aquatic Resources. Final Rule. Federal Register 73(70): 19594-19705.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). 2010. Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region (Version 2.0), ed. J. S. Wakeley, R. W. Lichvar, and C. V. Noble. ERDC/EL TR-10-3. Vicksburg, MS: U.S. Army Engineer Research and Development Center.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resource Conservation Service (USDA-NRCS). 2004. Understanding Soil Risks and Hazards, Using Soil to Survey to Identify Areas with Risks and Hazards to Human Life and Property, 2004.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resource Conservation Service (USDA-NRCS). 1972. Soil Survey of Clark County, Washington.

- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) and the Department of the Army. 1990. Memorandum of agreement for procedures to be used in the determination of the type and level of mitigation necessary to demonstrate with the Clean Water Act.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). 2006. Sole Source Aquifer Designation of the Troutdale Aquifer System; Clark County, WA. The Daily Journal of the U.S. Government. Federal Register: 71 FR 52541. Docket No. FRL-8217-2. Document No. E6-14710, 4 pp.
- U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). 2021. Earthquake Glossary. Available at: <u>https://earthquake.usgs.gov/learn/glossary/.</u>
- U.S. Global Change Research Program (USGCRP). 2018. Second State of the Carbon Cycle Report (Chapter 13: Terrestrial Wetlands). Available at: https://carbon2018.globalchange.gov/chapter/13/ (Accessed: November 2, 2022)
- Washington Department of Commerce (Commerce). 2021. Critical Areas Handbook: A Handbook for Reviewing Critical Areas Regulations.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 2008. Priority Habitat and Species List. Olympia, Washington. 174 pp.

Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2022a. Washington State RiskMAP Program. Available at: <u>https://waecy.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapSeries/index.html?appid=8451cb0db0c</u> <u>4461182e592eb5a43400a</u>.

- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2022b. Wetland Guidance for Critical Areas Ordinance (CAO) Updates: Western and Eastern Washington.
   Washington State Department of Ecology Publication # 22-06-014. October 2022.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology), U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Seattle District, and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region 10. 2021.
  Wetland Mitigation in Washington State–Part 1: Agency Policies and Guidance (Version 2). Washington State Department of Ecology Publication #21-06-003.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2021a. Draft Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas Guidance Document. March 2021.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2021b. Frequently Flooded Areas: Critical Areas Ordinance. Available at: <u>https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/Guidance-technical-assistance/Guidance-for-floodplains-Critical-Areas-Ordinance.</u>

- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2019. Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2014. A Methodology for Delineating Planning-Level Channel Migration Zones.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2009. Selecting Wetland Mitigation Sites Using a Watershed Approach.
- Washington State Department of Natural Resources (DNR). 2021a. Landslides. Available at: <u>https://www.dnr.wa.gov/programs-and-services/geology/geologic-hazards/landslides.</u>
- Washington State Department of Natural Resources (DNR). 2021b. Earthquakes and Faults. <u>https://www.dnr.wa.gov/programs-and-services/geology/geologic-hazards/earthquakes-and-faults.</u>
- Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT). 2021. Glossary. Available at: <u>https://wsdot.wa.gov/engineering-</u><u>standards/manuals/glossary/erosion-roadside.</u>
- Wilhere, G.F., and T. Quinn. 2018. How wide is wide enough?: values, science, and law in riparian habitat conservation. Natural Resources Journal 58:279-318.
- Wydoski, R.S. and R.R. Whitney. 1979. Inland fishes of Washington. Univ. Washington Press, Seattle. 220 pp.

# **APPENDIX A** DRAFT CRITICAL AREAS MAPS

# **APPENDIX B** BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE SOURCES

### **RESEARCH SOURCES**

### Wetlands

- Adamus, P.R., E.J. Clairain, Jr., M.E. Morrow, L.P. Rozas, and R.D. Smith. 1991. Wetland Evaluation Technique (WET), Volume I: Literature Review and Evaluation. WRP-DE-2.
   Vicksburg MS: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station.
- Azous, A.L. and R.R. Horner (eds.). 2001. Wetlands and Urbanization: Implications for the Future. New York: Lewis Publishers.
- Bendor, T. 2009. A dynamic analysis of the wetland mitigation process and its effects on no net loss policy. Landscape and Urban Planning 89:17-27.
- Bendor, T. and N. Brozovic. 2007. Determinants of spatial and temporal patterns in compensatory mitigation. Environmental Management 40:349-364.
- Boyer, T. and S. Polasky. 2004. Valuing urban wetlands: A review of non-market valuation studies. Wetlands 24(4):744-755.
- Brinson, Mark M. 1993. A hydrogeomorphic classification for wetlands. Technical Report WRP DE-4, U.S. Army Corps of Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS. NTIS No. AD A270 053.
- Bunten, Donna, Rick Mraz, Lauren Driscoll, Amy Yahnke. 2016. Wetland Guidance for CAO Updates. Western Washington Version. Washington State Department of Ecology.
   Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program. Publication No. 16-06-001. Olympia, WA.
- Castelle, A.J., C. Conolly, M. Emers, E.D. Metz, S. Meyer, M. Witter, S. Mauermann, T. Erickson, and S.S. Cooke. 1992. Wetland Buffers: Use and Effectiveness. Adolfson Assoc., for Shorelands and Coastal Zone Management Program. Washington State Department of Ecology. Publication 92-10. Olympia, WA.
- Cooke, S.S. 1992. Wetland Buffers A Field Evaluation of Buffer Effectiveness in Puget Sound. Appendix A. *In:* Castelle, A. J. et al. Wetland Buffers: Use and Effectiveness. Shorelands and Coastal Zone Management Program, Washington State Department of Ecology. Publication 92-10. Olympia, WA.
- Cooke Scientific Services Inc. 2000. Wetland and buffer functions semi-quantitative assessment methodology (SAM). Final working draft, user's manual. Seattle, WA.
- Cowardin, L.M., V. Carter, F.C. Golet, and E.T. LaRoe. 1979. Classification of Wetlands and Deepwater Habitats of the United States. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Publ. FWS/OBS-79/31. 131 pp.
- Ehrenfeld, J. G. 2000. Evaluating wetlands within an urban context. Ecological Engineering 15:253-265.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- Environmental Laboratory. 1987. Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual, Technical Report Y-87-1, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.
- Granger, T., T. Hruby, A. McMillan, D. Peters, J. Rubey, D. Sheldon, S. Stanley, E. Stockdale. 2005. Wetlands in Washington State, Volume 2 – Guidance for Protecting and Managing Wetlands. Washington State Department of Ecology Publication No. 05-06-008.
- Houlahan, Jeff E. and Scott C. Findlay. 2004. Estimating the 'critical' distance at which adjacent land-use degrades wetland water and sediment quality. Landscape Ecology 19: 677–690, 2004. © 2004 Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Hurd, Tom M., and Dudley J. Raynal. 2004. Comparison of nitrogen solute concentrations within alder (*Alnus incana* ssp. *rugosa*) and non-alder dominated wetlands. Hydrological Processes. 15 October 2004. Volume 18. Issue 14. Pp. 2681-2697.
- Hruby, T. 2014. Washington State Wetland Rating System for Western Washington: 2014 Update. (Publication #14-06-029). Olympia, WA: Washington Department of Ecology.
- Hruby, T. 2013. Update on Wetland Buffers: The State of the Science, Final Report, October 2013. Washington State Department of Ecology Publication #13-06-11. Olympia, WA.
- Hruby, T. 2011. Calculating Credit and Debits for Compensatory Mitigation in Wetlands of Western Washington. Operational Draft. Washington State Department of Ecology Publication No. 10-06-011. Olympia, WA.
- Hruby, T., D. Bunten, A. Yahnke, and J. Franklin. 2017. Characterizing Wetland Buffers in Washington State. Washington State Department of Ecology Publication No. 17-06-008. Olympia, WA.
- Hruby, T., K. Harper, and S. Stanley. 2009. Selecting Wetland Mitigation Sites Using a Watershed Approach. Washington State Department of Ecology Publication No. 09-06-032. Olympia, WA.
- Johnson, P., D.L. Mock, A. McMillan, L. Driscoll, and T. Hruby. 2002. Washington State Wetland Mitigation Evaluation Study. Phase 2: Evaluating success. Publication No. 02-06-009:146.
- Johnson, D.H, and T.A. O'Neil (eds.) 2001. Wildlife-Habitat Relationships in Oregon and Washington. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University Press. 736pp.
- Keddy, P. A., and Lauchlan H. Fraser, Ayzik I. Solomeshch, Wolfgang J. Junk, Daniel R. Campbell, Mary T. K. Arroyo, Cleber J. R. Alho. 2009. Wet and wonderful: The world's largest wetlands are conservation priorities. BioScience 59(1):39-51.
- Lehtinen, R.M., S.M. Galatowitsch, and J.R. Tester. 1999. Consequences and habitat loss and fragmentation for wetlands amphibian assemblages. Wetlands 19:1-12.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- Mack, J. J. and M. Micacchion. 2006. An ecological assessment of Ohio mitigation banks: Vegetation, amphibians, hydrology, and soils. Ohio EPA Technical Report WET/2006-1. Ohio Environmental Protection Agency, Division of Surface Water, Wetland Ecology Group, Columbus, Ohio.
- Matthews, J.W. and A.G. Endress. 2008. Performance criteria, compliance success, and vegetation development in compensatory mitigation wetlands. Environmental Management 41:130-141.
- McMillan, A. 2000. The Science of Wetland Buffers and its Implication for the Management of Wetlands. M.S. Thesis. The Evergreen State College. Olympia, WA.
- Mitsch, W.J. and J.G. Gosselink. 2000. Wetlands. Third edition. John Wiley & Sons.
- Norman, A.J. 1996. The use of vegetative buffer strips to protect wetlands in southern Ontario. Pp. 263 - 278 *in* Mulamoottil, G., B.G. Warner, and E.A. McBean (eds.) Wetlands: Environmental Gradients, Boundaries, and Buffers Proceedings. Wetlands Research Centre, University of Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, April 22–23, 1994. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Richter, K.O. 1997. Criteria for the restoration and creation of wetland habitats of lentic breeding amphibians of the Pacific Northwest. *In:* K.B. Macdonald and F. Weinmann (eds.), Wetland and Riparian Restoration: Taking a Broader View, pp. 72-94. EPA 910-97-007. Seattle, WA: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 10.
- Semlitsch, R.D. and J.R. Bodie. 2003. Biological criteria for buffer zones around wetland and riparian habitats for amphibians and reptiles. Conserv. Biol. 17:1219-1228.
- Sheldon, D., T. Hruby, P. Johnson, K. Harper, A. McMillan, T. Granger, S. Stanley, and E. Stockdale. 2005. Wetlands in Washington State, Vol. 1: A Synthesis of the Science. Washington State Department of Ecology Publication #05-06-006. Olympia, WA.
- Thompson, D.G., B.F. Wojtaszek, B. Staznik, D.T. Chartrand, and G.R. Stephenson. 2004. Chemical and biomonitoring to assess potential acute effects of vision herbicide on native amphibian larvae in forest wetlands. Environ Toxicol Chem. 2004 Apr; 23(4):843-9.
- Turner, R.E., A.M. Redmond, and J.B. Zedler. 2001. Count it by acre or function mitigation adds up to net loss of wetlands. National Wetlands Newsletter 23(6):5-16.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 2010. Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region (Version 2.0), ed. J. S. Wakeley, R. W. Lichvar, and C. V. Noble. ERDC/EL TR-10-3. Vicksburg, MS: U.S. Army Engineer Research and Development Center.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 2008. Regulatory Guidance Letter No. 08-03: Minimum Monitoring Requirements for Compensatory Mitigation Projects Involving the Restoration, Establishment, and/or Enhancement of Aquatic Resources. Issued 10 October 2008. 6pp.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- Washington State Department of Community, Trade and Economic Development. 2003. Critical areas assistance handbook: protecting critical areas within the framework of the Washington Growth Management Act.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2008. Making Mitigation Work. The Report of the Mitigation that Works Forum. Ecology Publication No. 08-06-018.
- Washington State Department of Ecology, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Seattle District, and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region 10. 2021. Wetland Mitigation in Washington State–Part 1: Agency Policies and Guidance (Version 2). Washington State Department of Ecology Publication #21-06-003.
- Wigand, C., R.A. McKinney, M. Charpentier, M. Chintala, and G.B. Thursby. 2003.
  Relationships of nitrogen loadings, residential development, and physical characteristics with plant structure in New England salt marshes. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Office of Research and Development. National Health and Environmental Effects Research Lab. Atlantic Ecology Division. Ecosystems and Analysis and Simulation Branch. Estuaries. 26(6):1494-1504, (2003).
- Wright, Tiffany, Jennifer Tomlinson, Tom Schueler, Karen Cappiella, Anne Kitchell, and Dave Hirschman. 2006. Direct and Indirect Impacts of Urbanization on Wetland Quality. Center for Watershed Protections. Prepared for Office of Wetlands, Oceans and Watersheds.
   U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. December 2006. Washington, DC.

### **Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas**

- Aller, Linda, Truman Bennett, J.H. Lehr, and Rebecca J. Petty. 1985. DRASTIC A Standardized System for Evaluating Groundwater Pollution Potential Using Hydrogeologic Settings, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Publication Number 800287035. May 1985.
- Alley, W.M., T.E. Reilly, and O.L. Franke. 1999. Sustainability of ground-water resources. U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1186.
- Anderson, P.D. 2008. Technical brief: Trace organic compounds and implications for wastewater treatment. Water Environment Research Foundation.
- Anderson, P., N. Denslow, J.E. Drewes, A. Olivieri, D. Schlenk, and S. Snynder. 2010. Final report – monitoring strategies for chemicals of emerging concern (CECs) in recycled water. Recommendations of a science advisory panel. Convened by [California] State Water Resources Control Board.
- Bailey, G. 2010. Fact sheet: sand and gravel general permit. Washington State Department of Ecology, Water Quality Program.
- Bradley, P.M. (N.d.) Potential for biodegradation of contaminants of emerging concern in stream systems. Proceedings of the 2008 South Carolina Water Resources Conference, held October 14-15, 2008, Charleston, SC.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- Cook, A., B. Devine, C. Rodriquez, D. Roser, S. Khan, N. McGuiness, N. Ashbolt, and P. Weinstein. (N.d.) Assessing the public health impacts of recycled water use Interim report 1. Government of Western Australia Department of Water, Western Australia Premier's Water Foundation
- Daughton, C.G. and T.A. Ternes. 1999. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: agents of subtle change? Environmental Health Perspectives. 107(6): 907-44.
- Dissmeyer, G.E. 2000. Drinking water from forests and grasslands. United States Department of Agriculture, United States Forest Service. General Technical Report SRS39.
- Focazio, M.J., T.E. Reilly, M.G. Rupert, and D.R. Helsel. 2002. Assessing ground-water vulnerability to contamination: providing scientifically defensible information for decision makers. U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1224. U.S. Department of the Interior, U.S. Geological Survey.
- Foster, S., R. Hirata, D. Gomes, M. D'Elia, and M. Paris. 2002. Groundwater quality protection: a guide for water utilities, municipal authorities, and environment agencies. The World Bank.

Groundwater Protection Council. 2007. Groundwater report to the nation: a call to action.

- Hancock, P.J. 2002. Human impacts on the stream-groundwater exchange zone. Environmental Management. 29(6): 763-81.
- Horner, R.R. and B.W. Mar. 1982. Guide for water quality impact assessment of highway operations and maintenance. Rep. WA-RD-39.14. Washington Department of Transportation, Olympia, WA
- Howie, Doug. 2015. Reclaimed Water Facilities Manual: The Purple Book Preliminary DRAFT. Published June 2015. Revised August 2017. Washington State Department of Ecology Publication No. 15-10-024. Olympia, WA.
- Kimsey, M.B. 2005. Implementation guidance for the groundwater quality standards. Washington State Department of Ecology Publication No. 96-02. Olympia, WA.
- Magette, W.L., R.B. Brinsfield, R.E. Palmer, and J.D. Wood. 1989. Nutrient and Sediment Removal by Vegetative Filter Strips. Transactions of the ASAE 32(2):663-667.
- Muldoon, M. and J. Payton. 1993. Determining wellhead protection boundaries an introduction. Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. Publ WR313-92.
- National Research Council of the Natural Academies. 2012. Water reuse: potential for expanding the nation's water supply through reuse of municipal wastewater. Committee on the Assessment of Water Reuse as an Approach for Meeting Future Water Supply Needs. Water Science and Technology Board. Division on Earth and Life Studies.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2010. Source water protection practices bulletin: Managing small quantity chemical use to prevent contamination of drinking water. Office of Water. EPA 816-F-01-125.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2002. Source water protection practices bulletin: Managing highway deicing to prevent contamination of drinking water. Office of Water. EPA 816-F-02-019.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2001. Source water protection practices bulletin: Managing turfgrass and garden fertilizer application to prevent contamination of drinking water. Office of Water. EPA 816-F-01-029.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 1997. State source water assessment and protection programs: final guidance. EPA 816-R-97-009.
- Verplanck, P.L. 2008. Understanding contaminants associated with mineral deposits. U.S. Department of the Interior, U.S. Geologic Survey Circular 1328.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2015. Washington State Water Quality Standards: Human Health Criteria and Implementation Tools. January 2015. Publication No. 14-10-058. Olympia, Washington.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2019. Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2012. Water quality assessment and 303(d) list.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2011. Vehicle and metal recyclers a guide for implementing the Industrial Stormwater General National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit requirements. Ecology Publication #94-146.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2005. Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas Guidance Document. January 2005.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2021. Draft Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas Guidance Document. March 2021.
- Washington State Department of Health. 2010. Washington state wellhead protection program guidance document. Division of Environmental Health, Office of Drinking Water. Publication DOH 331-018.
- Washington State Department of Health. 2021. Source Water Assessment Program, Mapping Application. Available at: https://fortress.wa.gov/doh/swap/index.html.

#### **Geologically Hazardous Areas**

American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE). 2016. Minimum Design Loads for Buildings and Other Structures, 7 (2016 ASCE-7 Standard).

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- Burns, W.J. and I.P. Madin. 2009. Protocol for inventory mapping of landslide deposits from light detection and ranging (LIDAR) imagery, Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries, Special Paper 42.
- Burns, W.J. and K.A. Mickelson. 2016. Protocol for deep-landslide susceptibility mapping, Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries Special Paper 48.
- Burns, W.J., I.P. Madin, and K.A. Mickelson. 2012. Protocol for shallow-landslide susceptibility mapping, Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries Special Paper 45.
- Czajkowski, J.L. and J.D. Bowman. 2014. Faults and Earthquakes in Washington State, Washington State Department of Natural Resources, 1 plate, scale 1:24,000.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), National Earthquake Hazard Reduction Program (NEHRP). 2020. NEHRP Recommended Seismic Provisions for New Buildings and Other Structures. 2020 Edition.
- Harding, D.J. 2000. Principles of airborne laser altimeter terrain mapping, NASA's Goddard Space Flight Center.
- Highland, L.M. and Peter Bobrowsky. 2008. The landslide handbook—a guide to understanding landslides, U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia, Circular 1325. 129 pp.
- International Code Council. 2018. 2018 International Building Code. Third Printing, October 2018.
- Lipman, Peter W., and Mullineaux, Donal R. 1981. "The 1980 Eruptions of Mount St. Helens, Washington," Geological Survey Professional Paper 1250, 1981.
- Mickelson, Katherine A. and Stephen L. Slaughter. 2017. Washington State's new landslide inventory mapping protocol. Washington State Department of Natural Resources, Washington Geological Survey, GSA Annual Meeting, Seattle, Washington. October 24, 2017, Session 252:T244. Landslide Inventories, Databases, Hazard Maps, Risk Analysis, and Beyond (Posters), Paper No. 252-5.
- Obermeier, Stephen F. and Stephen E. Dickenson. 2000. Liquefaction Evidence for the Strength of Ground Motions Resulting from Late Holocene Cascadia Subduction Earthquakes, with Emphasis on the Event of 1700 A.D. Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, 90, 4, August 2000. pp. 876–896.
- Palmer, Stephen P., Sammantha L. Magsino, Eric L. Bilderback, James L. Poelstra, Derek S. Folger, and Rebecca A. Niggemann. 2004. Liquefaction Susceptibility and Site Class Maps of Washington State for Clark County. Washington Division of Geology and Earth Resources. Open File Report 2004-20. Washington State Department of Natural Resources. September 2004.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resource Conservation Service (USDA-NRCS). 2004. Understanding Soil Risks and Hazards, Using Soil to Survey to Identify Areas with Risks and Hazards to Human Life and Property, 2004.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2019. Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington.
- Washington State Department of Natural Resources (DNR). 2018. Landslides. Available at: https://www.dnr.wa.gov/programs-and-services/geology/geologic-hazards/landslides
- Washington State Department of Natural Resources (DNR) Geologic Information Portal. 2021. Landslide hazard mapping, ESRI geodatabase file, October 2021.

### **Frequently Flooded Areas**

- Association of State Floodplain Managers, Inc. (ASFPM). 1993. Terminology and Standards for Community-Level Flood Preparedness Programs. Flood Warning and Preparedness Subcommittee of the ASFPM Flood Mitigation Committee. February 1993.
- Association of State Floodplain Managers, Inc. (ASFPM). 2016. NAI How-to Guide for Mitigation. No Adverse Impact Committee of the ASFPM. July 2016.
- Bolton, Susan, and Jeff Shellberg. 2001. Ecological Issues in Floodplains and Riparian Corridors. University of Washington, Center for Streamline Studies, July 2001.
- Clark County. 2010. Clark County Shoreline Inventory & Characterization. Clark County Coalition SMP Update. June 2010.
- Environmental Science Associates (ESA). 2014. Kittitas County Critical Areas Ordinance Best Available Science Review and Considerations for Code Update. Kittitas County Community Development Services. June 2014.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2019. Guidance for Flood Risk Analysis and Mapping: General Hydrologic Conditions. February 2019.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2013. Floodplain management and the Endangered Species Act checklist for programmatic compliance. November 2013.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2013. The Impact Of Climate Change and Population Growth on the National Flood Insurance Program through 2100. June 2013.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2010. Annual Report to National Marine Fisheries Service. DHS-FEMA Region 10 Mitigation Division. Bothell, WA.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2010. Regional guidance for hydrologic and hydraulic studies in support of the model ordinance for floodplain management and the Endangered Species Act. January 2010.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

Appendix B, BAS Sources

- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Region 10. 2010. Regional guidance for floodplain habitat assessment and mitigation [Draft].
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Region 10. 2010. Regional guidance for hydrologic and hydraulic studies in support of the model ordinance for floodplain management under the National Flood Insurance Program and the Endangered Species Act. January 2010.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2007. Managing Floodplain Development through the NFIP. March 2007.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2018. FIRM Panel 53011C0532E. January 19, 2018.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2018. FIRM Panel 53011C0534E. January 19, 2018.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2018. FIRM Panel 53011C0553E. January 19, 2018.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2018. FIRM Panel 53011C0554E. January 19, 2018.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2018. FIRM Panel 53011C0555E. January 19, 2018.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2018. FIRM Panel 53011C0560E. January 19, 2018.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2018. FIRM Panel 53011C0562E. January 19, 2018.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2018. FIRM Panel 53011C0565D. January 19, 2018.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2018. Flood Insurance Study, Clark County, Washington and Incorporated Areas. Volume 1 of 2. Revised January 19, 2018.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2018. Flood Insurance Study, Clark County, Washington and Incorporated Areas. Volume 2 of 2. Revised January 19, 2018.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 20218. Flood Resistant Provisions of the 2021 International Codes. January 2021.
- Legg, N.T. and P.L Olson. 2015. Screening Tools for Identifying Migrating Stream Channels in Western Washington: Geospatial Data Layer and Visual Assessments. Washington State Department of Ecology. Ecology Publication #15-06-003.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- Legg, N.T. and P.L Olson. 2014. Channel Migration Processes and Patterns in Western Washington: A Synthesis for Floodplain Management and Restoration. Ecology Publication #14-06-028.
- Legg, N.T., C. Heimburg, B.D. Collins, P.L. Olson. 2014. The Channel Migration Toolbox: ArcGIS Tools for Measuring Stream Channel Migration. Ecology Publication #14-06-032.
- Mauger, G.S. and H.M. Kennard. 2017. Integrating Climate Resilience in Flood Risk Management: A Work plan for the Washington Silver Jackets. Report Prepared for FEMA. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington.
- Norman, D.K., C.J. Cederholm, and W.S. Lingley, Jr. 1998. Flood plains, salmon habitat, and sand and gravel mining. Washington Geology. Vol. 26, No. 2/3: 3-20.
- Olson, P.L., N.T. Legg, T.B. Abbe, M.A. Reinhart, J.K. Radloff. 2014. A Methodology for Delineating Planning-Level Channel Migration Zones. Ecology Publication #14-06-025.
- Rapp, C.F. and T.B. Abbe. 2003. A framework for delineating channel migration zones. Washington State Department of Ecology. Ecology Publication #03-06-027.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 1997. Urbanization and streams: Studies of hydrologic impacts. Office of Water. EPA 841-R-97-009.
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). 2022. Washington State RiskMAP Program. Available at: https://waecy.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapSeries/index.html?appid=8451cb0db0c4461182e 592eb5a43400a.
- Wetmore, French and Larry R. Johnston. 1987. Helping Small Towns Adopt Programs for Nonstructural Flood Hazard Mitigation. Technical Report # 2. Association of State Flood Plain Managers, Inc.

### Fish and Wildlife Conservation Areas

- Adams, P.B., B.G. Churchill, J.E. Hightower, S.T. Lindley, and M.L. Moser. 2002. Status Review for North American Green Sturgeon, *Acipenser medirostris*. National Marine Fisheries Service. 57 pp.
- Andelman, S.J., and A. Stock. 1994. Management, research and monitoring priorities for the conservation of neotropical migratory landbirds that breed in Washington state. Wash. Nat. Heritage Prog., Wash. Dept. Nat. Resour., Olympia. (Irr. Pag.).
- Azerrad, J.M. 2012. Management recommendations for Washington's priority species: Great Blue Heron. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington.
- Azerrad, J.M., E. Larsen, and N. Nordstrom (eds.). 2004. Management recommendations for Washington's priority species, Volume IV: Birds. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- Bedard-Haughn, A., K.W. Tate, and C. van Kessel. 2004. Using nitrogen-15 to quantify vegetative buffer effectiveness for sequestering nitrogen in runoff. Published in J. Environ. Qual. 33:2252 – (2004). ASA, CSSA, SSSSA. 677 Segoe Rd., Madison WI.
- Bedard-Haughn, A., K.W. Tate, and C. van Kessel. 2005. 2005. Quantifying the impact of regular cutting on vegetative buffer efficacy for nitrogen-15 sequestration. *In J Environ* Qual. 2005 Aug 9;34(5):1651-64. Print 2005 Sep-Oct.
- Belt, G.H. and J. O'Laughlin J. 1994. Buffer strip design for protecting water quality and fish habitat. United States: N. p., 1994. Web.
- Beschta, R.L. 1978. Long-term patterns of sediment production following road construction and logging in the Oregon coast range. Water Resour. Res. 14:1011-1016.
- Blanco-Canqui, Humberto, C.J. Gantzer, S.H. Anderson, and E.E. Alberts. 2004. Grass Barriers for Reduced Concentrated Flow Induced Soil and Nutrient Loss. Published in Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 68:1963–1972 (2004). Soil Science Society of America. 677 S. Segoe Rd., Madison, WI 53711 USA
- Blewett, C.M. and J.M. Marzluff. 2005. Effects of urban sprawl on snags and the abundance and productivity of cavity-nesting birds. Condor 107:677-692.
- Bolton, S.M. and J. Shellberg. 2001. Ecological issues in floodplains and riparian corridors. Prepared for Washington State Transportation Commission, Department of Transportation, and in cooperation with U.S. Department of Transportation and Federal Highway Administration.
- Booth, D.B. 1991. Urbanization and the natural drainage system impacts, solutions, and prognoses. Northwest Environ. J. 7:93-118.
- Brown, B.T. and R.R. Johnson. 1985. Glen Canyon Dam, fluctuating water levels, and riparian breeding birds: the need for management compromise on the Colorado River in Grand Canyon. Pp. 76-90 *in* R.R. Johnson, C.D. Ziebell, D.R. Patton, P.F. Ffolliott, and R.H. Hamre, eds. Riparian ecosystems and their management: reconciling conflicting uses. U.S. For. Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep. RM-120.
- Burke, T.E. 1999. Conservation Assessment for *Prophysaon coeruleum* Blue-Gray Taildropper. U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Region 6 and U.S. Department of the Interior Bureau of Land Management. Oregon and Washington.
- Chichester, F.W., R.W. Van Keuren, and J.L. Mc Guinness. 1979. Hydrology and Chemical Quality of Flow from Small Pastured Watersheds: II. Chemical Quality1. J. Environ. Qual. 8:167-171. doi:10.2134/jeq1979.00472425000800020006x.
- Crawford, J.A. and R.D. Semlitsch. 2007. Estimation of Core Terrestrial Habitat for Stream Breeding Salamanders and Delineation of Riparian Buffers for Protection of Biodiversity. Conserv. Biol. 21:152-158.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

Cummins, K.W. 1974. Structure and function of stream ecosystems. BioSci. 24:631-641.

- Daniels, R.B. and J.W. Gilliam. 1996. Sediment and chemical load reduction by grass and riparian filters. Soil Science Society of America Journal 60: 246-251.
- Debano, L.F. and L.J. Schmidt. 1990. Potential for enhancing riparian habitats in the southwestern United States with watershed practices. For. Ecol. and Manage. 33/34:385-403.
- Diffendorfer, J.E., M.S. Gaines, and R.D. Holt. 1995. Habitat Fragmentation and Movements of Three Small Mammals (Sigmodon, Microtus, and Peromyscus). Ecology, 76(3), 827.
- Dillaha, T.A.I. and S.P. Inamdar. 1997. Buffer zones as sediment traps or sources. *In:* N.E. Haycock, T.P. Burt, K.W.T. Goulding, and G. Pinay (eds.), Buffer Zones: Their Processes and Potential in Water Protection. Harpenden, Hertfordshire, UK: Quest Environmental. Pages 33-42.
- Donnelly, R. and J.M. Marzluff. 2004. Importance of reserve size and landscape context to urban bird conservation. Conserv. Biol. 18:733-745.
- Ferguson, H. and J.M. Azerrad. 2004. Pallid Bat (*Antrozous pallidus*). *In:* Management Recommendations for Washington's Priority Species – Volume V: Mammals (Interim). Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington. 76 pp, pages 14 to 23.
- Gilbert-Norton, L, R. Wilson, J.R. Stevens, and K.H. Beard. 2010. A meta-analytic view of corridor effectiveness. Conserv. Biol. 24:660-668.
- Grays Harbor County Lead Entity Habitat Work Group. 2011. Chehalis Basin Salmon Habitat Restoration and Preservation Strategy for WRIA 22 and 23.
- Griggs, G.B. 1984. Flood control and riparian system destruction: lower San Lorenzo River, Santa Cruz County, California. Pp. 142-149 in R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, eds. California riparian systems: ecology, conservation, and productive management. Univ. California Press, Berkeley.
- Harmon, M.E., J.F. Franklin, F.J. Swanson, P. Sollins, J.D. Gregory, J.D. Lattin, N.H. Anderson, S.P. Cline, N.G. Aumen, J.R. Sedell, G.W. Lienkaemper, K. Cromack Jr., and K.W. Cummins. 1986. Ecology of coarse woody debris in temperate ecosystems. Adv. Ecol. Res. 15:133-302.
- Hays, D.W and R.L. Milner. 2003. Purple Martin. *In:* E. Larsen, J. M. Azerrad, N. Nordstrom (eds.), Management Recommendations for Washington's Priority Species, Volume IV: Birds. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington. Pages 31-1 to 31-4.
- Hayes, G.E. and J.C. Lewis. 2006. Washington State Recovery Plan for the Fisher. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington. 62 pp.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- Hays, D.W., K.R. McAllister, S.A. Richardson, and D.W. Stinson. 1999. Washington State Recovery Plan for the Western Pond Turtle. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington. 66 pp.
- Hayes, G. and G. Wiles. 2013. Pallid bat (*Antrozous pallidus*). *In:* Washington Bat Conservation Plan. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington. Pages 66 to 69.
- Helmers, M.J., D.E. Eisenhauer, M.G. Dosskey, T.G. Franti, J.M. Brothers, and M.C. McCullough. 2005. Flow Pathways and Sediment Trapping in a Field-Scale Vegetative Filter. 2005 American Society of Agricultural Engineers ISSN 0001–2351. Vol. 48(3): 955–968.
- Hinam, Heather Lynn and Colleen Cassady St. Clair. 2008. High levels of habitat loss and fragmentation limit reproductive success by reducing home range size and provisioning rates of Northern saw-whet owls, Biological Conservation 141.2 (2008): 524-535.
- Idaho Department of Fish and Game. 2014. Management plan for the conservation of wolverines in Idaho. Idaho Department of Fish and Game, Boise, ID.
- Kirby-Smith, W.W. and N.M. White. 2006 Bacterial contamination associated with estuarine shoreline development. J Appl Microbiol. 2006 Apr; 100(4):648-57.
- Knight, K. 2009. Land use planning for salmon, steelhead and trout. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington.
- Knutson, K.L. and V.L. Naef. 1997. Management recommendations for Washington's priority habitats: riparian. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington. 181 pp.
- Lee, K.H., T.M. Isenhart, and R.C. Schultz. 2003 Sediment and nutrient removal in an established multispecies riparian buffer. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation. January/February 2003. Vol. 58 no. 1 1-8.
- Legg, Nicholas T., Christina Heimburg, Brian D. Collins, and Patricia L. Olsen. 2014. Channel Migration Toolbox. ArcGIS Tools for Measuring Stream Channel Migration. Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program. Washington State Department of Ecology. Publication No. 14-06-032. Olympia, Washington.
- Lewis, J.C. and J.M. Azerrad. 2003. Pileated woodpecker. *In:* E. Larsen, J. M. Azerrad, N. Nordstrom (eds.), Management Recommendations for Washington's Priority Species, Volume IV: Birds. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington. Pages 29-1 to 29-9 i.
- Lower Columbia Fish Recovery Board (LCFRB). May 2015. Washington Lower Columbia Salmon Recovery and Fish & Wildlife Subbasin Plan.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- Lowrance, R., R. Leonard, R. Todd, J. J. Fail, O. Hendrickson, R. Leonard, and L. Asmussen. 1984. Riparian forests as nutrient filters in agricultural watersheds. Biol. Sci. 34:374-377.
- Littlefield, C.D. and G.L. Ivey. 2002. Washington State Recovery Plan for the Sandhill Crane. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington. 71 p.
- Mancilla, G.A., S. Chen, and D.K. McCool. 2005. Rill density prediction and flow velocity distributions on agricultural areas in the Pacific Northwest. Soil & Tillage Research 84 (2005) 54–66
- Mapfumo, Emmanuel, Walter Willms, and David Chanasyk. 2002. Water quality of surface runoff from grazed fescue grassland watersheds in Alberta. Water Qual. Res. J. Canada. 37. 543-562.
- Mason J., C. Moorman, G. Hess, and K. Sinclair. 2007. Designing suburban greenways to provide habitat for forest-breeding birds. Landscape Urban Plann 80(1-2):153-64.
- McBride, Maeve and Derek B. Booth. 2005. Urban impacts on physical stream condition: Effects of spatial scale, connectivity, and longitudinal trends. Journal of The American Water Resources Association. June 2005.
- Meehan, W.R. and T.C. Bjornn. 1991. Salmonid distributions and life histories. Pp. 47-82 *in* W.R. Meehan, ed. Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats. Am. Fish. Soc., Bethesda, Md.
- Nelson, G.S. and S.M. Nelson. 2001. Bird and butterfly communities associated with two types of urban riparian areas. Urban Ecosyst. 5:95-108.
- O'Connell, M.A., J.G. Hallett, and S.D. West. 1993. Wildlife use of riparian habitats: a literature review. TFWWL1-93-001. Wash. Dept. Nat. Resour., Olympia. 162pp.
- Olden, J.D., L. Poff, M.R. Douglas, M.E. Douglas, and K.D. Fausch. 2004. Ecological and evolutionary consequences of biotic homogenization. Trends in ecology & evolution, 19(1), pp. 18–24.
- Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife (ODFW). 2008. Oregon Black-Tailed Deer Management Plan. Salem, Oregon. 69 pp.
- Orrock, J.L. and B.J. Danielson. 2005. Patch shape, connectivity, and foraging by the oldfield mouse, *Peromyscus polionotus*. Journal of Mammalogy 86: 569-575.
- Pacific Flyway Council. 2006. Pacific Flyway management plan for the Pacific Coast Population of Trumpeter Swans. Portland, Oregon.
- Pacific Flyway Council. 2001. Pacific Flyway management plan for the western population of Tundra Swans. Portland, Oregon. 28pp.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- Pardini, Renata, S. Marques de Souza, R. Braga-Neto, and J.P. Metzger. 2005. The role of forest structure, fragment size, and corridors in maintaining small mammal abundance and diversity in an Atlantic forest landscape. Biological Conserv. 124: 253-266.
- Quinn, T., G.F. Wilhere, and K.L. Krueger, technical editors. 2020. Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 1: Science Synthesis and Management Implications. Habitat Program, Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia.
- Rentz, R., A. Windrope, K. Folkerts, and J. Azerrad. 2020. Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 2: Management Recommendations. Habitat Program, Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia.
- Rodrick, E. and R. Milner (eds.). 1991. Management Recommendations for Washington's Priority Habitats and Species. Washington Department of Wildlife, Olympia, Washington.
- Rhodes, J., C. M. Skau, D. Greenlee, and D. L. Brown. 1985. Quantification of nitrate uptake by riparian forests and wetlands in an undisturbed headwaters watershed. Pp. 175-186 *in* R. R. Johnson, C. D. Ziebell, D. R. Patton, P. F. Ffolliott, and R. H. Hamre, eds. Riparian ecosystems and their management: reconciling conflicting uses. U.S. For. Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep. RM-120.
- Rodrick, E. and R. Milner (eds.). 1991. Management Recommendations for Washington's Priority Habitats and Species. Washington Department of Wildlife, Olympia, Washington.
- Roseboom, D., and K. Russell. 1985. Riparian vegetation reduces stream bank and row crop flood damage. Pp. 241-244 *in* R. R. Johnson, C. D. Ziebell, D. R. Patton, P. F. Ffolliott, and R. H. Hamre, eds. Riparian ecosystems and their management: reconciling conflicting uses. U.S. For. Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep. RM-120.
- Rutherford, J.C. and M.L. Nguyen. 2004. Nitrate removal in riparian wetlands: interactions between surface flow and soils. J Environ Qual. 2004 May-Jun;33(3):1133-43.
- Schroeder, M. A. 2010. Progress Report: Harvest Management of Forest Grouse in Washington, with a focus in north-central Washington 1992-2009. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington.
- Schultz, R.C., T.M. Isenhart, W.W. Simpkins, and J.P. Colletti. 2004. Riparian forest buffers in agroecosystems – lessons learned from the Bear Creek Watershed, central Iowa, USA. Agroforestry Systems 61: 35–50, 2004. © 2004 Kluwer Academic Publishers. Printed in the Netherlands.
- Southerland, M. 1993. Habitat Evaluation: Guidance for the review of environmental impact assessment documents. Prepared for the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- Sridhar, V., Amy L. Sansone, Jonathan LaMarche, Tony Dubin, and Dennis P. Lettenmaier. 2007. Prediction of stream temperature in forested watersheds. 8 June 2007. Paper No.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

02131 of the *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* (JAWRA) Volume 40. Issue 1. Pp. 197-213.

- Steinblums, I. J., H.A. Froelich, and J.K. Lyons. 1984. Designing stable buffer strips for stream protection. Journal of Forestry 82(1):49-52.
- Sullivan, K., T.E. Lisle, C.A. Dolloff, G.E. Grant, and L.M. Reid. 1987. Stream channels: the link between forests and fishes. *In:* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, eds. Streamside management: forestry and fishery interactions, pp. 39-97. Coll. For. Resour. Contrib. No. 57, Univ. Washington, Seattle.
- Swanston, D.N. 1991. Natural processes. *In:* W.R. Meehan, ed. Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats, pp. 139-179. Am. Fish. Soc., Spec. Publ. 19. Bethesda, Md.
- Syversen, N. 2005. Effect and design of buffer zones in the Nordic climate: the influence of width, amount of surface runoff, seasonal variation and vegetation type on retention efficiency for nutrient and particle runoff. Ecological Engineering 24(5): 483-490.
- Theurer, F.D., I. Lines, and T. Nelson. 1985. Interaction between riparian vegetation, water temperature, and salmonid habitat in the Tucannon River. Water Res. Bull. 21:53-64.
- Thomas, J.W. 1979. Wildlife habitats in managed forests: the Blue Mountains of Oregon and Washington. First ed. U.S. For. Serv., Portland, Oreg. 512 pp.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2006. Sole Source Aquifer Designation of the Troutdale Aquifer System; Clark County, WA. The Daily Journal of the U.S. Government. Federal Register: 71 FR 52541. Docket No. FRL-8217-2. Document No. E6-14710, 4 pp.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2011. Revised Recovery Plan for the Northern Spotted Owl (*Strix occidentalis caurina*). U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Portland, Oregon. xvi + 258 pp.
- Vasquez, M. and L. Spicer. 2005. American Marten (*Martes americana*) Species Assessment. Grand Mesa, Uncompanyer, and Gunnison National Forest.
- Vellidis, G., R. Lowrance, P. Gay, and R.D. Wauchope. 2002. Herbicide transport in a restored riparian forest buffer system. Transactions of the ASAE. Vol. 45(1): 89–97. (doi: 10.13031/2013.7878) @2002.
- Vidon, P.G.F., and A.R. Hill. 2004. Landscape controls on nitrate removal in stream riparian zones, Water Resour. Res., 40, W03201, doi:10.1029/2003WR002473.
- Washington State Department of Community, Trade and Economic Development. 2003. Critical areas assistance handbook: protecting critical areas within the framework of the Washington Growth Management Act.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research

- Washington Department of Commerce. 2021. Critical Areas Handbook: A Handbook for Reviewing Critical Areas Regulations.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 2015. State Wildlife Action Plan Revision. Species of Greatest Conservation Need Draft Fact Sheets. Olympia, Washington.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 2015. Washington's State Wildlife Action Plan: 2015 Update. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 2014. 2015-2021 Game Management Plan. Olympia, Washington. 162 pp.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 2012. Western and Clark's Grebes: Annual Report. Olympia, Washington. 5 pp.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 2009. Landscape planning for Washington's wildlife: managing for biodiversity in developing areas.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 2008. Priority Habitat and Species List. Olympia, Washington. 177 pp.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 2005. Washington's Comprehensive Wildlife Conservation Strategy. Chapter 6: Washington's Ecoregional Conservation Strategy. Olympia, Washington.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 1998. Forage Fish Management Plan. Olympia, Washington. 77 pp.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) and Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife (ODFW). 2001. Washington and Oregon Eulachon Management Plan. 33 pp.
- Wenger, S. J. and L. Fowler. 2000. Protecting river and stream corridors: creating effective local riparian buffer ordinances. Carl Vinson Institute: University of Georgia.
- Wigington, P.J. Jr., S.M. Griffith, J.A. Field, J.E. Baham, W.R. Horwath, J. Owen, J.H. Davis, S.C. Rain, and J.J. Steiner. 2003. Nitrate removal effectiveness of a riparian buffer along a small agricultural stream in western Oregon. J Environ Qual. 2003 Jan-Feb; 32(1):162-70.
- Wydoski, R.S. and R.R. Whitney. 1979. Inland fishes of Washington. Univ. Washington Press, Seattle. 220pp.
- Young, E.O. and R.D. Briggs. 2005. Shallow groundwater nitrate-N and ammonium-N in cropland and riparian buffers. Agriculture, Ecosystems, and Environment 109: 297–309.

Technical Report – Best Available Science Research